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CHAPTER T

THE BEGINNING



Everyone is a product of his or her own times. It can,t

be otherwise.

I am a product of the 20th Century, having started life in

its second decade and probably ending it before the 21st.

So my life story, therefore, reflects the pride and
prejudices of a 20th Century middle class white American male.

As such, it lacks uniqueness, but contains much that is
representative of a period.

The 20th Century has been a period of upheaval and great change,
of wars, revolutions, depressions, recessions and perhaps
unrepeatable good times. It has seen great changes in morals,
living styles and standards, art, music, politics and points of
view. All of which has impinged on and influenced my life in

many imponderable ways. (S¥e aﬂﬁ?c%Qﬂ/ZZﬂu'Z@f7{74;<>'

To recapture these times and estimate their influence upon me
is one purpose of this narrative of my life. It has been in most
ways a very ordinary life. Yet, I have been privileged to be at
points of change and witness to some of the extraordinary events
of this Century. These should be recorded for my children and
grandchildren before they pass from my mind and memory. If they
are not interested in this recital, I will at least have had the
pleasure of recollecting the main events and highlights of my life.

So let me begin:
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When I was born on January 12, 1917 in Jackson, Mississippi,
the World was at war, the Czar of Russia was in the last few days
of his reign and the United States was soon to plunge into this
war. My birth was a factor in keeping my father out of the army.
So, as a family, we were only lightly brushed by World War I. Yet,
my brother - 7 years older than I - was picked up in downtown
Jackson riding behind a column of soldiers on his little bike.

And, on November 11, 1918, I helped pull a bell rope to sound the

end of the war. But I have no recollection of these events.

My earliest memory instead concerns my family's leaving the
South to return to the North from which it had come to spend the
years from 1916 - 1922 in Jackson. My father's company was in
the electric light and gas business. In 1922 he was transferred
from Manager of the Jackson gas company to Manager of the electric
companies in southern Minnesota and northern Iowa. We were to
reside for a few years, 1922 - 1925, in a small agricultural
center, Albert Lea, Minn. This small but pleasant town was built
on the shore of a beautiful lake and our home was on the shore of
this lake. So here I learned to swim and fish in summer, and

skate and ride ice boats, toboggans and ski in winter.

I loved to ride a surfboard behind our little motorboat while
my brother steered the boat - out into the middle of thejlake to
my mother's consternation. One day, my brother found me going
down for the 3rd time while swimming near a small bridge. He grabbed

my hair and pulled me out to lie exhausted and crying on the bank.

After that, T was more carefull




Winters were long and severe with lots of show. Our large
and pleasant house sat on the top of a slope overlooking the
lake. In winter, my brother and I would ski down this slope. My
father caused us great amusement one night by saying - follow
me, boys, and then proceded to fall flat on his face in the deep

SNOWe.

One 4th of July night on the lawn, I was allowed to hold a
Roman candle which went off in my father's face. Fortunately,
his burn was not serious, but I was very scared, and learned to

respect fireworks forever after that.

Then, I started school in a large brick school house over a
mile from our house. We would walk to school along the road that
followed the shore of the lake. And, on the way, stop in at a
little store where we could buy gum balls for a penny. And on
rainy days used ruts in the gravel road as lakes to sail our twig

boats.

Kindergarten and first grade were largely devoted to learning
to writ? and to learning the alphabet. We used the o0ld fashioned
Spencegén system, first with pencils and then with pens dipped in
our ink wells and shiny steel "nibs" or points. Needless to say,
we had grubby hands, and the girls often inky pigtails. But,

it was fun and we all, 20-30 of us, loved school and walking

to and from it in groups.




On Sundays, our family attended the First Presbyterian Church
where I went to Sunday school. I learned all the Bible stories
about Moses, Abraham, Jesus and David and Goliath. We were
given little leaflets with Bible story pictures on them. On
Christmas Eve, my father took us all to the church service. When
I was four, I recited a Christmas poem before the whole congregation,

and was very scaredl

Following my mother's family tradition, we opened our presents
under the Christmas tree on Christmas Eve. My father told me that
Santa Claus visited our house while we were at church, and pointed
to reindeer hoof marks in the snow-as proof of this! I really
believed this story but Roy, my brother and seven years older,

knew better, but went along with my father's game!

The Albert Lea years passed too quickly. Then a change in my
father's business connections resulted in a move to Minneapolis,
a much bigger place, a large city in fact. However, in 1925, we
could not find the right house immediately. So, we moved into a
small apartment house, about half-way down town on a large

and busy boulevard. .

We were not too happy with the loss of our big house.
The apartment was hot in the torrid Minnesota Summers and cold
in the long dark winters. I walked to a much larger grade school
and entered the 4th grade. My most vivid memory of this period covers

coming down with measles while at school and being senf home by

the school nurse. The other was the fun of studying Minnesota




history which was full of Indian lore, and tales of Father
Hennepin and the early French explorers of the upper Mississippi

River territory.

My first girl was in this class, her name was Ruth Crofut
and we walked home from school together. ©She let me carry her books!

Hurrah!

But my mother kept looking for a better plaée to live. ©So0 in
1926, father purchased an English Tudor-style Pome on the south
side of Minneapolis, within sight of Lake Hézget, one of 7/ lakes
within the city limits of Minneapolis. My school changed also,
so I attended the 5th grade in a new school built to serve the
rapidly expanding south side, a prosperous suburban area. My
principal recollection of the school was the warm chocolate milk
we had to drink, warm because it was always placed on a hot

radiator to wait for the break period.

I made friends with a boy who excelled in sports. He often
took me to his home where we played ball and football together.
(Later in 1life, he became a famous football coach at the University
of Oklahoma and ran, dhsuccessfully, for the U.S. Senate (His name
was Bud Wilkinson!) One night in the Spring of 1927, he invited
me over to hear the De%%ey - Tunney heavyweight championship prize
fight on the radio. We lay on the floor and heard the announcer
say, excitedly, that Dempsey had floored Tunney. ©Since Dempsey

did not go to his corner of the ring during the count,. the referece

delayed the count and then gave Tunney a chance to recover and to




go-on-andwit‘the fight’and’: the world championship. ‘This ovent . -
became thé cause .of'greatisecontroversy in'the.sporte world,..
but us boys (Bud and I) did not really appreciate its significance

at the time we heard the fight.

Also, I took part in baseball and football during recess at the
school, but only with moderate success. Once Bud nearly knocked me

out when I tackled him, but I hung on and down he came.

But, once again, fate or chance intervened and we faced another
upheaval in our lives. During the winter 1926 - 1927, my father
learned of difficulties in his company's business that led him
to look for other employment. He was recommended to a large utility
company headquartered in New York. So, he went on to New York City
to work and to look for a new home for his family of three people

and one dog.

At this point, I should say that my mother, faced with being
alone in our Minneapolis home with father gone, decided to get a dog
for protection. One day she saw a bright Boston Terrier in the
window of a pet store in Minneapolis. So Jerry moved in with
us to stay with us until his death 9 years later. Both Roy and
I became very attached to Jerry and mother always spoiled him.

S0 he'll pop up through the next few years of this narration.

(I do not know or remember how he got this name, maybe mother

just liked it!)

With Dad gone to N.Y., we settled down to a long winter of




waiting for our house to be sold. With lots of snow on the ground,
house hunters were few and far between that winter. Roy had graduated
from Central High in Minneapolis and now was commuting as a day

student to the U. of Minnesota as a freshman.

Since father could not come home for Thanksgiving of 1926,
Mother, to relieve our loneliness bought reserved tickets to a
new movie about World War I,”What Price Glory? with a young actor
named James Cagney. Although the picture (they didn"t have
sound until 1928) was a silent picture, there was an orchestra
which produced loud sound effects of the battles on the western

front in France. ©So we got our first real impression of War! It

. was Hell!

Father (Dad as we called him) was able to get home for
Christmas so we spent a few happy days together., But it was
saddened by the knowledgqv he would have to go back to New York.
By Spring, we were getting desparate to sell the house. So the
Real Estate company suggested a Saturday open house early in

April.

u

So we shinmed and cieaned all week getting the house ready to
show. On the big day, mother +took the first floor, Roy the upstairs
and Jerry and I held forth in the basement. And we waited, and
waited)but not one single soul rang our doorbell. At five o'clock

mother called us into the livingroom and said, "we're going out

. . r .
. to dinner." So we went downtown and relieved our gustnatlon by

ordering a huge meal. What a day .
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But early in May, a buyer was found for our house) but we had
tp move out before June to give possession. S0 we packed our
belongings and put them in storage and moved into the Curtis

( Toun devaw s (G SF)

Hotel in downtown Minneapolis.A I did a reverse commute, taking a

streetcar back to our old neighborhood and school.

June finally rolled around and with it warm weather at last. .
One day on the front porch of the Hotel, a man set up a cardtable
with a sign - North West Airlines - trips for $5.00. Everytime
I passed, he said "Hey, kid, won't your mother let you go up?"
I was only too willing but mother knew the plane was a World War I

ﬂﬁntage bﬁplane, and she would have no part of it.

. (Later in life, flying to London on a Northwest 747 carrying v« »
400 passengers, I thought about the Curtis Hotel and that one

biplane of Nortkwest Airlines!)

My schooling in Minneapolis ended with the S5th grade. I did
well in school so one day a visiting "prodigy" was brought into
our class. We were invited to ask him (about 12 to 14 years’old)
any question. I asked him what made the ocean tides. He did not

know, but I did. The Moon - so there too!

About the middle of June, 1927, we began the long drive to
New York to rejoin Dad who had rented a house for us in a

suburban town called New Rochelle in Westchester County, north of

the Bronx and Manhattan.




Qur car was a sedan with room for © passengers and a dog!
But we were only 3, my brother Roy, then 16, my mother, then 43,
and me, then 10. Roy did all the driving, even though so young.
He had started to drive when only 12 in those days before drivers

licenses. S0 he was an experienced driver at 16.

Our road from Chicago on was known as the Lincoln Highway.
It was a two lane macadam road that ran across Indiana, through
Cleveland, Pittsburgh, then south through (or rather around, up and
over the Appalachians) West Virginia and Maryland and then up to

Cemdenpn
Philadelphia, Genedsa, Trenton, Princeton into New York.

. We drove about 200 miles a day, stopping overnite at hotels
and leaving Jerry, after suitable exercise and a walk, to sleep
in the car. Our expenses were palid by Dad's company so we ate
well at good restaurants and stayed in the best hotels. But it was
hot and dusty with air conditioning still just a dream. If lucky,
our hotel room had a fan and the bellhop would bring us a Jjug of

Y

water and perhaps a little ice.

In going through the coal mines of Pennsylvania and West Virginia
we saw how poor people lived, in unpainted shacks. We were glad

not to be miners or trying to farm the steep hillsides in the country.

When we reached Philadelphia, we visited Constitution Hall
and saw the room where the Declaration of Independence was signed,
and the Liberty Bell. F%}her up the road, we stopped in I'rinceton,

New Jersey and saw the beautiful campus of Princeton University.

Mother said she wished I could go there when I finished high school.
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I wanted it too, and surprise, surprise, that is what actually

happened!
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CHAPTER TIT
BOYHOOD

When I left Minneapolis, I left "childhood" behind, and my
boyhood really began. We were moving to a more sophisticated area,
New Rochelle, a well-to-do suburb of New York City. By comparison,
Minneapolis and Albert Lea and Jackson, Mississippi had been rather

provincial.

Some of this feeling hit all of us, Mother, Roy and I as we
entered New York City on a warm June night in 1927. We left the
Lincoln Highway in New Jersey and went under the Hudson River through
a newly built tunnel for vehicles, the Holland Tunnel. We emerged
on Canal Street in Manhattan surrounded by tall buildings and
thousands of people and lights. It was all so busy, noisﬁy and

somewhat frightening.

Finally, after several inguiries of impatient New York traffic
cops, we found our way to the Brooklyn Bridge. For our destination
was the St. George Hotel in Brooklyn, then a new hotel rising
30 stories above the ZEast River, and just across from Lower
Manhattan where Dad worked Just off Wall Street. The St. George
was one subway stop from the Wall Street subway stop, so Dad had
arranged for us to stay there for a few days for our furniture to
arrive from Minneapolis, and get settled.in our new home in New
Rochelle. Actually, because of delays in packing and shipping,

we were to spend nearly three weeks at the St. George. This

gave Dad a chance to get reacquainted with his family and to show

us the sights of New York.
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When we finally, after several false starts, found the hotel,
Dad was standing at the front entrance where he had waited for
us for several hours. Mother was just getting ready to open the car
door to set foot on the curb when Jerry, our dog, Jjumped from
the back seat and hit her right on the nose. Blood gushed from
her battered nose and down her dress. And tears started flowing.
What a moment! Poor Dad, he didn't know what had happened to make

his wife bleed and cry on seeing him after so long.

But finally, the day ended well. Roy and I shared one room
and Dad and Mother an adjoining room. Jerry spent the night in
the car in the hotel garage. Roy fed and watered him, took him
for a little walk in front  of the hotel, and Jerry was content
to stay on his favorite pillow in the familiar car rather than sleeping
in a stranpge hotel room. Infact, Jerry slept in the car for 7
weeks without ever barking or creating a mess. How is that for

a good dog?

The next day, and for several days thereafter, Dad took time
off fromlhis job as Vice President of Peoples Light and Power
Company at 17 William Street in lower Manhattan\to "show us the town".
We went everywhere, up 5th Avenue to the original Waldorf Astoria,
then on the site of the present Empire State Building, through Times
Square by day and by night, to all kinds of restaurants, lunches
at Schraffts, dinner at Italian, French, German, Spanish restaurants

for all kinds of exotic foods. Trips through the Fingncial District,

Wall Street, the Stock Exchange, Greenwich Village,
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the Bowery, out on Long Island to Far Rockaway and fish dinners,
across into New Jersey to Montclair and Far Hills with their
beautiful homes and big estates. Then up into Westchester

County to see our new home in New Rochelle. It was a nice big
frame house with a big front porch and a big deep lot and

situated on a corner at the Jjunction of two streets. Our new house
was only twa blocks from a busy shopping area so shopping, car
service, barbering were all within an easy walk. DMore importantly
to me, we were only three blocks from a large and beautiful Jjunior

high school holding the 7/, 8, 9th grades.

S0 we were all happy with our new home situated on a comfortable
residential street of middle class homes. Up the street lived
George S. Kauffman, the playwright. Other famous residents of New
Rochelle at the time were Babe Ruth and Lou Gehrig of baseball
fame, and Norman Rockwell the artist and George M. Cohan, the

broadway producer, not to exclude the Gordons!

Summer passed quickly. I had to take tests, placement tests,
to see where I would go to school. In Minneapolis, I had taken a
series of such tests at the end of my 5th grade and these scores
were passed on to New Rochelle. When all was said and done, it was
decided I should skip the 6th grade and enter Junior High School
in the 7th grade even though, at 10, I would be young for my class.

But I was glad since Junior High was nearby and the neighborhood

o=

boys were all attending this school.
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I really enjoyed my school and liked my teachers who were above
average. For example Phyllis McGinley who later became one of
America's leading woman poets was my English teacher. She was
also adviser to "Highlights" a monthly literary magazine
published by the English students. She talked me into competing
for the staff of this little magazine to which I contributed stories,
eassays and occasionally poems. Also, I enjoyed workinm with the
other talénted children on the staff in getting the publication
ready for the printer. Yes, it had an illustrated cover with original
covers by talented young art students in the school, and was printed
on fine glossy paper, and was sold for 10¢ to the student body.

I still have copies of this paper which my mother kept.

Our teachers were exceptional since New Rochelle paid top
salaries for the time, as much as $5,000 a year! This would be

equal to $#30,000 today.

Yes, I had a crush on my pretty 8th grade Math teacher, who

taught us how to figure in our heads without writing it all down.

The years of Junior High passed all too quickly. One day Just
before I was to appear/in a piano recital, I was playing ball in
the school yard. A ball came at me and hit the top of my middle
finger on my right hand. Although I didn't realize it was broken,
it hurt dreadfully, I didn't find out until later the bone was
broken in the first Jjoint, and when it healed up, the bone was
slipghtly enlarged, and still is to this day. At the time, I was

more concerned that I could not play the piano as I was supposed to

do at the recital. I had to refinger the whole piano piece, but




- 15 -

I managed to get through my number using only four fingers on the

right hand.

It must be noted that piano recitals and "Culture" were very
much in vogue at this time, the late "roaring 20's." My mother
joined the New Rochelle Woman's Club which had its own large building,
including a fine auditorium. Book reviews, recitals, travelogues and
lectures were all presented to the members. Mother took me along
to some of them, although my father and brother successfully évoided

most of these sessions.

My piano teacher was a man in his middle years and "very
cultured". Our piano recitals usually included a presentation
by a prominent N. Y. pianist before we went on. Moreover the
parents, believe it or not, wore evening clothes to these affairs.
My own presentations were always from the classical school,
Beethoven, Rachmaninoff, Schubert, etc., never popular music
from Proadway hit musicals. All very "la-de-da" by late century

standards, but par for the course in the years before World War II.

This world of culture began to collapse in the 1930's with
the onset of the Depression. My first knowledge of something going
wrong was in October 1929 when the New York Stock Market crashed,

losing over 90% of its value in the next two years.

I can remember being in school that day. We noticed clumps
of teachers talking in the halls} even they were speculating in

stocks. Our teacher, a young Math teacher I thought was beautiful,
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told us the Stock Market was going down. Even in the 8th grade at
that time we knew that wasn't good. When I got home from school,
my mother said father had called to tell her not to worry,

we were not affected, but said he would be late because of the
crowds in Wall Street. He also said many suicides were taking

place as people learned they had lost everything in the market.

For two years father's prediction that we would not be hurt
appeared to be right. Life for us went on little unchanged. We
got our first electric refrigerator, a General Electric, and said
farewell to the ice man. We also bought a large radio, then
called a super heterodyne, and became fans of Amos and Andy, a
comedy team who were on nightly during dinner time. My parents took
a trip to California and I stayed with the family next door. My
brother started living at his Engineering School, Stevens Institute
of Technology, in Hoboken, N. Y. His dormitory was an old
mansion of the Stevens family, with a fantastic view looking over
Manhattan Island, and "shipping row" where all the big ocean

liners docked. I dreamed of crossing the ocean on one of them.

Then it happened, in 1931 my father 's company, People's
Light and lower, was Lhrown lulo reccivorship by Lhe Chage DBuanlk
(now the Chase Manhattan Bank). This happened because the bond
market, like the stock market, had collapsed finally, making it

impossible to pay off bank loans by selling bonds to the public.
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Dad's company, over his objections had built a long pipeline
to carry natural gas, planning to sell bonds. But, as noted above,
in 1931 no one was buying bonds at any price.

Well, we were naturally very upset. Would Dad lose his job in
a depressed job market? A Federal judge was appointed to ltake
over the company. He fired every executive in the New York Office
except my father, and the company treasurer. My father was kept
on to look after operating the companies electric, gas and water
properties scattered around the United Statesz, lrom New Bil.
to the West Coast and from Minnesota to Texas. The Treasurer
was kept on to keep the books and handle funds. My father and he
had to report once a month to the judge in Wilmington, Delaware.

Mother decided to cut back our spending since Dad's pay was
reduced from $12,000 to $#8,000 per year. (In good years, like
1929, he had received bonuses bringing his total pay to the then
very large sum of $20,000 the equivalent of about $100,000 by
today's standards.) So I dropped the music lessons, with little
regret on my part. But surprisingly, in 1932, our folks decided
to take advantage of Depression bargains and sent my brother and T
on a trip to Europe. This on top of our trip to California by
car in 1930 (For details of these two trips, see the two bound
volumes covering these trips with pictures and details.)

Needless to say, we appreciated their sacrifice for their boys
during a period of great economic hardship and uncertainty.
However, nothing was ever too much for Roy and I, if it contributed
to our education, and we certainly were lucky in our choice of

parentsl

In 1929, Mother and Dad had planned to visit Europe, but decided
instead to buy some more stock in Dad's company;with the benefit
of hindsight which saw the stock become worthless because of the
recejvership, this was a bad choice. But, again it was made, in
part, to provide Roy and me with a bigger inheritance. In fact,
if the Depression had not come, we were both to be given trust funds
that would have supported us both without the necessity to work.
So maybe, it worked out for the best, or otherwise, we might have
becore rich bums!
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The cost of living fell faster than father's income. By 1934
he had received a pay raise back to $10,000 and it looked like the
recelvership would go on for a long time. So we took advantage of
the favorable real estate rental market and moved to a bigger and
more modern home in New Rochelle. I continued to go to the same
school. By now, I had graduated from High School, class of 19%3%,
where I was Salutatorian (2nd) in my class and was attending
Princeton University as a Sophomore.

My high school years were essentially uneventful. Whereas,
in Junior High School, I had taken part in the school magazine,
Highlights, as editor and frequent contributor, I took a lesser

part in the large new New Rochelle High.

By now, that is in high school, I was beginning to suffer
the social disadvantages of having skipped two grades (3rd and
6th) so I was about two years younger than my classmates. In your
teens, this makes a difference. Also, belatedly, it was discovered
that my teeth needed straightening, so I wore braces, at that time
something new and revolting not the status symbol it later became.
So I just studied hard, joined the Latin, French and Current
events clubs, and listened. I listened particularly to an older
boy who taught me about the '"facts of life" something my parents
had left out of my education. This boy knew "all about girls,"
or so he said. By this time, my girl classmates had begun to show
signs of becoming women, with breasts filling out, along with
hips and other attributes. Obviously, . something was changing!

So was my voice, which changed at 14 on the trip Roy and I took
to California. I went out to California nearly a soprano and

came back a baritone!

In the Spring of 1933, there was a big family debate as to what
T should do albtor hipsh school.  Waus T rendy Tor collopo ol 107
Father took me down to Lawrenceville, New Jersey to a prep
school by that name. Many boys at Harvard, Yale and above all
Princeton attended this preparatory school. I liked the school very
much but no final decision was made that day partly because the
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school was expensive for the time - about $1,500 for a year for
a boarding student.

In May 1933, I took the college entrance board exams and passed
all of them with good grades. So my parents sent the grades to
Princeton which, to our surprise frankly in view of my age,
accepted me to enterﬁ%he Fall of 1933,

Having been admitted to Princeton, i1t seemed supurfluous to go
to a preparatory school, although, my parents were a little concerned
about my going away to college at 1l6. So, on the first day, my
brother drove with me and our parents to see me ﬁﬁéégii;g at the
University. He was to stay the weekend with me to help me get
oriented.

I was installed in an old home on University place used as a
freshman dormitory. (The Princeton Bookstore is now located on this
site.) I had a corner room on the back of the house overlooking
Blair Hall, a large gray Gothic dormitory often featured in
pictures of Princeton. I soon met other freshmen in the dormitory.
But, when Roy left for home on Sunday afternoon, I felt lonely and
scared. So, I welcomed the offer of a young heavy set boy named
Art Yahn to go to dinner with him in the University Commons,
the large dining hall for freshmn and sophomores. It was a
large Gothic hall, like the great halls in Medieval castles, with
long tables with benches. Students working their way through
school, loaded the tables with platters of food which were

passed around family style.
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The Commons served two purposes, it fed us cheaply (#8 per week)
and also, because there was no reserved seating, gradually
introduced you to most of your classmates. My Freshman Class
had about 600 members, of whom over 400 stayed until graduation.
Sc, we all became fairly close and well known to each other.

Being 16, whereas, most of my classmates.were ;318 put-me at so o
disadvantage both physically and socjally. However, academically,
I found myself able to keep up. I was studious by nature, read a
lot on my own, and had had the benefit of New Rochelle's superior
public schools. So my grades were good.

I sought out the company of several other boys who were
younger than the average, and we "hung around" together. Also,
being in a small house with only freshmen gave us a feeling of
"family" which overcame my being younger than the group.

As a result, I soon settled into life at Princeton, classes,
football games on Saturday with seats on the 50 yard line for
undergraduates. I also soon learned to play a game called ”s?uash”
which was popular in the so-called Ivy League colleges like
Princeton, Yale and Harvard. It was played in an enclosed .court.
Two players with racquets and a hard rubber ball. Each tried to
hit the ball fast and hard so the other player could not return it.
A fast game provided good exercise and good sport. However, I
. never achieved great proficiency at the game although, enjoying it
a great deal. I did not have the size or strength to compete with
the better players, so limited my competition to my college room-
mate and a few other duffers like myself.

In my freshman year, I had met a young fellow - a quiet, reserved

but very intelligent boy named Joe Harris. He had attended a New England
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prep school, but was not one of the "preppies" who often were
CligueiSh and stayed together.

Well, Joe Harris and I "hit it off" so we roomed together in
our Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years. In our Sophomore year,
we moved into a large Gothic style dormitory, 1901 Hall built
from money donated by that class. We spent our Sophomore and
Junior years there.  We had a suite of 3 rooms, each had a small
bedroom and then we shared a large living room. Down the hall
was a large shower room with toilets used by all the men in the
Entry, about 25 men shared the common shower and toilet facilities.
We had much more room than students do today, 4 or © would share
. the facility we two had in the years 1935 and 193%6.

In our Senior Year, we moved into '79 Hall, an English Tudor
type dormitory on the edge of Prospect Street and close to both
our classrooms and our Eating Club. It was the preferred dormitory
on Campus.

In our Sophomore Year, we went through the eating club
selection process known as "Bickering." Since neither Joe nor
I were "big men on campus', we were invited to join one of the
smaller less prestigious clubs known as Court Club. There were
about 60 boys in the club where we ate our meals during our
Junior and Senior Years. The Clubhouse was a large English style
building on Prospect Street where all the clubs were located,
Just off campus. The Club had a large social hall, a large
dining room, and upstairs a fine billiard room with pool and
billiard tables where I spent many "useless" hours 1ea£§ng to play

pool.
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We were served by white coated black waiters in the dining
room where we ate off of round tables with white tablecloths. So,
we lived in style! Even our dormitory rooms were cleaned and our
beds made by men assigned to ecach dorwilory enlry, The Depreussion
allowed such services to be maintained for students. Our "man"
was paild about $600 a year plus Christmas tips and bonus! Our
favorite was a little Englishman who had once worked as steward on
a British ship going to Africa and Asia. Having caught a severe
tropical disease, he had to seek a cooler climate to work in, hence,
Princeton, New Jersey.

I majored in Economics in my Junior and Senior years at Princeton.
The subject had intrigued me from the start, and I had decided on
a career in banking, even though my Grandmother Thrift (my mother%
mother) said all bankers below the level of President were
underpaid, and in those days she was right.

In the summer of 1935, I got a Jjob in Wall Street, as a "runner"
for the United States Trust Company at 45 Wall Street. I was
paid $16 a week plus a free lunch to carry securities to brokerage
houses and corporate stock transfer offices. This meant spending
a lot of time riding the New York subway for 5¢ a ride since the
corporate offices were often "uptown" meaning between 34th ctreetl
and 57th street, as opposed to "downtown" - from Fulton Strect
to the Battery - then known as the Financial District. In the
morning, I commuted from our home in New Rochelle on a suburban
rail line known as the Boston and Westchester, which never went
to Boston, stopping instead in Westchester. (It later went
bankrupt and the rails were sold to the Federal Government lor
wartime purposes.) This little railroad converted to the N. Y.
subway system in the Bronx at 18lst street. So then, I rode the
subway from one end of Manhattan, the North end, to the other, or
South end, getting off at the Wall Street stop.

This job gave me a "feel” for finance and banking. I became
acquainted with the major financial institutions of the time,

The Chase Bank, the Bank of Manhattan, J. P. Morgan, lst National
Bank etc., as well as the major stock Dbrokerage houses, the

big law firms on Wall Street, and the financial offices of large
corporations like General Motors, General Electric and U. S. Steel.
For a 17 year old, this was heady stuff.
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One day, walking with a brief case full of securites (stocks
and bonds) down Wall Street, I heard the newsboys calling "Extra -
Extra" - meaning some big news story had just happened. I bought
a paper and learned that Will Rogers, then America's leading
comedian and commentator, had been killed in an airplane accident
in Alaska on an intended trip around the world. I, along with most
Americans/was heartbroken at the news.

I repeated my Jjob with the U. S. Trust Company in the summer
of 1935 following my Sophomore year. The bank indicated that, after
graduation, I could come with them on a permanent basis. So my

careet was decided - or so I thought.
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CHAPTER IIT
YOUNG MANHOOD

My slow maturation in my teen years was accelerated in 1936 when
I won a scholarship for summer study in .Germany. In my freshman and
sophomore years I had taken French and beginning German. While
taking, these courses, I learned of a competition beingm aponnorad by
the new School of Public and International Affairs, a college
within a college at Princeton. This new organization was headed by a
retired State Department official, De Witt Clinton Poole, whose son
Allen, was a classmate of mine.

The school offered courses in international rclations and
diplomacy to undergraduates who were allowed at first to take them
as electives, and, later on, to major in the school as in one of
the regular departments. To arouse interest in the School, scholar-
ships for summer study in European Universities were first offered
in 19%5 and then again in 1936. I took the .exams for these
scholarships, and in the Spring of 1936 was lucky enough to win
a $600 scholarship for summer study at the University of Munich,
in Munich Germany. Although $600 looks small today, in 1936 it
was sufficient to pay for steamship fare roundtrip, train fare
and tuition, board and room for 6 weeks of study. Dad and Mother
were good enough to give me another $400, so altogether I had
$1,000 for this summer of travel and study. Also, I had saved about
$200 from my summer jobs which I added to the travel pot. Thus,

I was able to sail for Europe in early June 1936 and stay until
mid September or 3 months altogether. During this time, I visiled
London, Paris, Geneva, Berlin, Qésden, Prague, Vienna, Budapest,
Venice, Florence, Rome, Naples, Cannes, Nice, Lyon, and Paris aguin.
I lived for six weeks with a German family in Munich, and stayed

in Berlin with another German family during the 1936 Olympics.

Also, on this trip, I saw in person the following international
figures; Hitler, Mussolini, Anthony Edé€n, Maxim Lit¥noff (the
Russian foreign Minister), Haile Selassie (Emperor of Ethiopia)
as well as lesser figures in Germany such as Dr. Goebbels,
the propaganda Minister, Rudolph Hess, Herman Goering (the Deputy
Fueher), Heinrich Himmler (head of the S.S. or Secret Police)
and other notorious figures of Nazi Germany, or the Third Reich.



- 25 -

I sailed from New York on the Caledonia, a smaller passcnper
ship of the Cundrd, White Star Line, loaded with Scotche-Americang
families returning to Scotland for the summer. On board was a bagpipe
band which began ”skir{ing" (playing loudly) every afternoon and
well into the evening. At dinner, they would pipe their way
through the shiﬁs dining rooms, leading a walter carrying the
"Haggis". A Haggis is a Scotch dish like a puddding, but
composed largely of animal entrails cooked together. I wanted
no part of this, or the bagpipe band, so soon retreated to the ship's
lounge or out on deck for a breath of quiet and fresh air.

The Caledonia arrived off Gahmby, Id¢eland early one morning,
through the haze, little white cottages could be seen on shore.

Qur ship headed North along the Atlantic Coast of Ireland to
Londonderry, a British port, not Irish. To reach Londonderry,
we sailed up a long fiord, or inlet, with little villages only
a stone's throw from our deck. Althoughy ten o'clock at night
when we arrived, it was still daylight because of the northern
latitude. After unloading passengers at Londonderry, we sailed
back North again into the Irish Sea and then headed South for
Belfast on the East Coast of Ireland. I had gone to bed after
leaving Londondeffy and awoke to find our ship at dockside in
Belfast. I did not leave ship as we sailed about 10 a.m. for
Scotland. After crossing the Irigh Sea and passing the Isle of
Man, our ship headed up the Clyde River for Glasgow. The Clyde was
the heart of British shipbuilding.

Even thoughy 19364 was a depression year, many ships were under
construction, including several large warships for the British
Navy. We passed the yard where the Queen Mary wags built and the
Queen Elizabeth was under construction, still just a mass of steel.

In the early afternoon, we docked in Glasgow. I intended
to stay the night in Edinburgh. Since it was Sunday, Glasgow
did not appear the busy industrial city it then was, desoite
the Depression. However, after a taxi ride through quiet streets

I reached the train station and caught an early train to Edinburgh.
The short Jjourney (about 60 miles) brought me through countryside
into Edinburgh in time for a quick walk up Princes Street.
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To save money, ¥ stopped ab the Y.M.C.A. to ask if they had a
room. However, they were full up but referred me to a private
home nearby. The owner ushered me into a bedroom with two beds.
I went to sleep and slept soundly. When I woke in the morning

I found a man about 40 asleep in the other bed! I rose quickly,
dressed and went downstairs for breakfast. The host offered me
a large bowl of "porridge'", toast, eggs and coffee. After
breakfast, I headed for the American Express Office to sce about
seelng a little bit of Scotland.

American Express had a limousine making a trip north and west
of Edinburpgh through some of the mountains, a boat trip on Tock
(Lake) Lomond, with return to Edinburgh late in the day. I
decided to go on this trip with several other passengers, all
older than myself. (Incidentally, traveling alone or with strangers
did not bother me. When I was 14, my parents had let me take a
trip alone by steamship to Halifax, Nova Scotia and on to St. Johns,
Newfoundland and back, with my own cabin. I loved to travel and had
shared a taxi making a 40 mile trip along the coast of Newfoundland
to small villages).

Our car took us through increasingly high mountains (or "Beng"
as the Scotch called them) all rather bleak and treeless, then
down into valleys leading to a series of lakes, culminating in
Lock Lomond, well known in Scotch verse and song, and the water
reservolr for the city of Glasgow. At a small dock, we left the
car and boarded a small steamer that took us around the Lake, stopping
at small villages along the shore to discharge or pick up local
passengers. In late afternoon, we reboarded our car and drove
back to Edinburgh for another nights stay at my bed and breakfast
lodging.

The next morning, I walked to the railway station and boarded
a train for Durham,,England, arriving there before noon after
crossing the 2 "0of the Forth railroad bridge, then the
world's largest bridge.

At Durham, I left my bags at the station check room and
climbed a steep hill to visit the Cathedral, one of the oldest
in England, built by the Anglo Saxons before the Normans arrived
from France in 1066. Thus, though huge, 1t lacked the embellichments
and detailed stone carvings of later cathedrals built under Llhe

Normans. Also, it was damp and chillyl
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Returning to the station, [‘caughlt a train to Yorlk, Eapland tc soc
the famous York Minster or Cathedral. York was a much larger
place than Durham and I had to walk a considerable distance to find
the Cathedral. I asked a bobby for directions but his York accent
was such that I could hardly understand a word!

Unfortunately, I found substantial restoration going on in the
Cathedral.,  As a result, it was difficult to see many of the
famous windows or architectural details obscured by large scaffoldings.
However, the Cathedral park or '"close" was beautiful. Also, I
enjoyed seeing an English town other than London.

The afternoon train brought me into London after dark. I
found a room in a small hotel in Bloomsbury near the British
Museum. Although I had visited London earlier on a trip with my
brother in 1932, there was still much to ses. I took one morning
to visit 0ld Bailey, England's famous criminal court, and the
setting for many detective stories. A 'murder trial was in
progress and I was interested in lawyers (balfisters in English
terminology) in their old fashioned wigs and black robes.

Another visit came about through an introduction to an
insurance broker who offered to show me around Lloyds, the world
famous insurance brokerage center where all the world's ships
and many other things are insured. We were let inside by a
doorman wearing red robes and a large gold chain. Inside it
was rather like a church with peWs; however, the peWf were formed
into little squares, with each group of brokers owning its own scuares .
In the middle of the high vaulted room was a large bell. Whenever
a ship is sunk anywhere in the world, this bell is rung to tell
all the brokers that claims of insurance would soon be filed.
Fortunately, the bell did not ring while [ was there. .

How did I get to meet a London insurance broker who would
show me through Lloyd's and then take me to lunch at a nearby
restaurant? Well, ag T was on a School of Public and International
Affairs scholarship, I, in a sense, was Princeton's responsibility.
So I traveled armed with letters of introduction. In London, I
was required to check in with a Princeton professor on sabbatical
leaye. He invited me to his apartment where I was introduced
to a number of other scholarship students and a number of his
English friends, including the Lloyd's broker.
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Also, I had introductions to another professor in Paris, and
to the American Consul in Munich, Germany, and to the Charge d'Afflaires
at the American Embassy in Berlin. These introductions proved uselul
in meeting interesting people and pgetting into places and hearing
things the average tourist missed.

‘ After touring London on foot, I boarded a train to Southhampton.
The train left London in the late afternoon, and arrived at the
Southhampton dock after dark. There, I boarded the Trans - channcl
steamer to Le Haﬂé where I would catch a train to Paris. (Nobody
except the very rich flew in those days )

I was supposed to share my steamer oabln with anothfr passenger
who turned out to be a Belgian priest, with a long beardxa long
cassock reaching to his shoe tops. I looked forward to finding
out what was worn under the cassock, but was to be disappointed.

He wpoke a Lillle bnpplish wnd said Lhe cubin was Loo slully. So
he went up to the steamer lounge and never returned,; maybe I scared
him! At any rate, I went to bed, to awake in Le Ha#§ harbor in
the morning. There, I caught the so.-called ”boét train" to Paris,
arriving about noon.

In Paris, I checked into a small hotel near the Opera House
that had been recommendedkto me. Then, I called my Princeton
sponsor who invited me to dinner at his apartment. Although, I
had been to Paris 4 years eérlief}I had visited most of the tourist
sites, I set out on foot to see the town. I walked and walked, up
the left bank of the Seine, the zoo0, through the art galleries and
the University of Paris. I wa ked around the right bank and all
the shops, until finally I felt g native. I ate in sidewalk cafe's
watched the passing throngs and thoroughly engoyed Paris which I thinks
the most beautiful city in the world. Being June, the weather was
perfect. However, at dinner my Princeton mentor and his wife and
several friends were talking about Hitler and the threat of war.
They thought I was fortunate to be going to Germany at that time
when so many developments were taking place. I was asked to
write my impressions and told to call them j}f I fell sick or needed
money. It was comforting to know I had friends on the Continent.
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CHAPTER IV
RETROSPECTIVE - FUN AND GAMES - PEOQOPLE

Before launching into Gex_many, it is perhaps appropriate to
look back a little at some of the people and fun things I did
before entering the adult world.

As a boy, I was not too athletic. I was only marginally good
at games, tennis, golf, squash. However, I tended to associate
with boys and girls whose interests lay in other things.

How about girls. Well, in high school and Junior high, T met
a number of girls who had interests like mine, interested in getting
good grades in school, taking part in school plays, and club
activities, The Depresstion made all young people more serious
thdn the students before (in the 1920's) and later (in the 1950's
and 1960's). S0 my bookishness and interest in schoolwork was
not so "abnormal" as would be the case probably in the post war
period. Also, New Rochelle was a very "intellectual" community
with parents greatly interested in their children's academic and
artistic (music, art, drama) achievements.

In school, I helped direct plays, manage staging, prepare
ads for shows and the like, Here, I came into contact with lots
of girls as well as fellows. But, being about 2 years younger
than my classmates made me less conscious of "sex" than some of
my classmates. My first real "necking" didn't occur until my
senlor year when a little blonde girl named Karlotta Koberlein
took me in tow and taught me how to kiss. I found the subject
most interesting. However, in those days people my age never went
beyond petting or necking. It was unthinkable for middle class
boys to go "all the way". And frankly, I was too scared to
try anything at 16. My folks would have "killed me". So I remained
"virginal”, but interested!

In college, I saw few girls except on football weekends and
college proms. But, the proms were for juniors and senion. So my
"love life" at this period was limited. Moreover, I was wearing
braces on my teeth. Tmapgine, in Princeton with bracoeogs, but my
need for them didn't become apparent until adolescence. So I
suffered through this indignity throughout college, but it was

worth it in terms of improved appearance, or so I thought.
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Funny things - yes - I remember being put in the shower in
freshman year with all my clothes on, I've forgotten why! And
then chicken pox, not exactly funny, but then it was because I
got them in my Junior year at college over Christmas vacation.
What a Christmas, I scratched and wanted to scratch all over.

Oh well, it gave me time to read Melﬁélle's "Moby Dick" for English.

Fun consisted largely of bull sessions, going to the movies,
drinking beer (5.2%'alcohol was all that they had at first),
playing squash and horseback riding. Yes, I rode horses since
I had sipgned up for ROTC (Reserve Offig{ers Training Corps) in
my freshmen and sophomore years. Princeton in those days had a
field artillery unit, using horse—drawn French 75 millimeter
cannon left over from World War I. Talk about primitive.

However, we had fun riding the army horses in a large riding hall}
we even Jjumped these draft animals. One dropped me off as he
Jumped, I sailed straight ahead while he turned right. The

boys all laughed as I lay in the fortunately soft dirt of the
riding hall. Our instructor made me go over the Jjump right away
again so I wouldn't learn "fear" of the jump. Well T made it

the second time to loud applause.

After two years of ROTC, I foolishly dropped it to take some
history electives. As a result, I entered World War II as a
buck private instead of with a commission. On the other hand, T
probably would have been called to active duty in 1940, instead
of entering two years later. So maybe T saved my life by that
choice since the Quartermaster Corps proved a lot safer than the
I'Mield Artilleryl! Anyway, the army sent me to Officer Candidate
School within three months after entry and I received my commission
three months later, ot faster than ROTC!

ROTCturned out some good officers. One of my classmates wound
up on General Mac Arthur's staff in the Pacific, and later after
the War became an Asst. Secry of Defense. Another was promoted
to Lt. Col. and became aide to a three star general in the European
Theatre. S0, we were a good group. I got B's in ROTC so wasn't
too badl
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My youth was basically fun, but rather bookish and serious
for my age level. Perhaps, my skipping two grades in school -
srd and 6th - which resulted in my being two years younger than
my contemporaries hurt me socially. I was socially naive for my
educational level but not for my age. But, being a late bloomer
socially may have kept me out of mischief ~ things that could have
hurt or complicated:my later life never occurred. On ‘the other
hand - maybe I missed some fun too! Well, we'll never know.
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CHAPTER V

Now that you know something about the 19 year old who left

Paris for Munich by way of Switzerland, I'll resume my narrative.
I caught a train from Paris to Geneva, Switzerland, Arriving
there in the evening, I found a "pension" to stay in. A Duropean
“pension" 1s really a small hotel that provides meals with the
room price, so it's cheaper and also saves the necessity of
looking for cafe's or restaurants. They were popular before the
war with students and others seeking low cost lodgings, sometimes

for extended stays.

In Geneva, I visited the Palace of the League of Nations, and
attended a meeting of the Leapue. As it happened, I witnessed a
bit of history, L1 was in the visitors gallery when Haille Selussie,
Emperor of Ethiopia made an impassioned appeal for help against
Italy whose troops had invaded his country. Anthony Eden, for
Great Britain and Maxim Liﬁ@nnoff for Russia spoke in support of
Haile Selassie but, ominously, the German and Italian representatives
walked out when the Emperor spoke. The shadows of the great War to come
were already beginning.

T'rom Geneva, I took the train for Muenchen (German for Munich)
When the train reached the German frontier, it stopped and Nazi
guards came aboard and confiscated my Swiss newspapers and a copy
of the BSaturday LEvening Post. Already censorship!

I arrived in Munich in the evening and stayed the first night
at a pension. It was not hard to find them as representative of
hotels and pensions met the main ' trains and had little buses that took
you to their establishments.

In the morning, I set out for the University which was located
in the center of the city. The buildings were large impressive
structures, but there was no campus, as at Princeton or other
American Universities.

My letters of introduction now proved helpful and I was enrolled
in the "Sommerkursus furA#hslander", or summer school for foreipgncrs.
I took courses in German language (oral and written) and history.

All were to be conducted in the German language! The University
also gave me a list of places that took roomers for the summer.

I was lucky and found a roam at the apartment of a Doctor's widow
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who had a 16 year old son, and two other rcomers. My room wus
large and looked out over a busy street,; it even had a piano in it
and an oriental rug. I shared a bath with the other two roomers.
But the Apt. was on the 3rd floor (Dritten Stock), and no elevalor
so I learned how to climb stairs, /

My first chore after getting settled and finding my nice
landlady spoke no English, was to go and register with the police
at the nearby police station. This was maﬂdatory; but I was well
recelved, and afteg?gﬁécking my passport I returned to my new home.

The next day classes in German and then a history lecture in
German. My college German - two years - had focused largely on
basic grammar, vocabulary and reading literature. Thus, 1 was not
well prepared to listen to instruction and lectures, and even less
prepared to write in German. Soon, I had to drop back to the
elementary German writing class where I felt more comfortable.

But after hearing German all day and reading German newspapers
and talking German, haltingly, I gradually achieved a modest
proficiency in the language. It was enough to communicate MY
needs in restaurants and beer halls, and to my landlady.

To learn colloguial or "street" German I went to beer hallg
at night. In these large beer cellars there were long tables where
everyone sat together, talked and sang songs. Lots of fun. OQne
young Bafvarian apparently took a likeing to the young Ameri¢ﬁanor.
He came to‘ihvite me to join him and a group of his friends to
join them one night. However, I didn't realize the German "class"
system was so strong.

When my friend came to the apartment, I was out but my landlady,
without consulting me, dismissed him. She +told me this and said
I should not go out with him because he spolke Bavarian "dialekt"
not good German and she wanted me to learn "hoch Deutch", or upper
class German. As T did not have his address or last name, T
could never contact him, and he never returned. So I lost a rricnd.
However, I soon found myself caupght in a social "whirl".

The University of Munich, in order to attract foreign students
(and influence them-%%wénga favorable attitude toward Deutchland
and the ThirdiReich, organized an extensive social program for
those attending the summer sohool.)
| Iirst, there was International llaus, a large dormitory for

foreign students with lounge and dining facilities open to all
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who had special passes, including me. Tor a few pflening (centls),

we could get a nourishing lunch in a room full of students from

all over the world, but mostly from Central and Eastern Europe.

It was a fascinating experience as the atmosphere was friendly and
informal. German was the common language, with a few attemptin:

to speak English to me. Iortunately, a number of Americans were there
tbo, several girls from Vassar and Wellgiéley College. I lost no
time in getting to know them,

Our German hosts arranged dances at least twice a week)either
at the Student Center, Internaﬁbnal Hauseyor at a beer hall. To
these parties German students, boys and girls, were invited and T
soon learned to know many of them. They enjoyed practicing their
English on me and, I, my German on them. We all loved the waltzes
and polkas the bands played, and the beer was good and cheap.

Gorman mirls were much shyer andf%ﬁ}ve thankﬁgqrﬁcnn i
of the same age. They wore little make-up and wore their hair
in braids or pigtails. Their dresses were cheap and generally
unstylish. As a result, the American girls in our group were
"terribly popular" with the handsome German boys attending thesc
parties. We used to laugh about it among ourselves. DBut sincc
the German boys were often very handsome, the American girls ate
it up! By the end of an evening the girls who wore make-up
("frisch gestrichen" - wet paint) had usually transferred it to
the lips or cheeks of the boys.

On weekends, there were organized excursions into the
countryside around Munich. One trip was a hiking trip in the
Bavarian Alps, a long walk over paths through the dense pine forests.
In the morning fog hung over the mountains, but by the time we
stopped to picnic, the sun had come out and we had marvelous views
over the mountaln ranges.

Another weekend, we took a local train about 30 miles to a village
on the Iser River which flowed down from the mountains through
Munich. Then we embarked on a large log raft to drift back to town.
A platform had been built on the logs and benches placed there
with several barrels of beer. So we drank and sang and dancced
our way past fields and villages as we drifted down the slow
moving river under a warm sun. We stopped at. little villages
for bathroom breaks and picniced on the banks of the river.

Everyone had a good time. Our oarsman who stefjred with a large

1 C- Bayvarian
paddle set in the rear of the barge wore the typical af
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lederhosen (short leather pant%) kncee socks and bootsyand a hat
with a feather in it. A fun day for all. An accordian player
. provided the music, which was often accompanied by baudy verses
which, fortunately, I have forgotten.

One young fellow on this trip apparently took a liking to me and
we met often for lunch after classes. He was working on a
Doctorate in Chemigstry and was a brilliant linguist, spoke beautiful
and fluent ZEnglish and could converse in Swedish, French, Polisn,
and Italian as well. His family was wealthy, from a chemical
fortune. He was a reservist in .th_e German Air Force, having
Seruecﬁ for two years in the Luftlaffe.

When talking seriously, he appeared resigned to a war with
Russia, but was very concerned 1lest England, Irance cr the U.S.
‘might get involved for a two,front war. He was not a Nazi, but
believed the Communist threat to Western civilization would have
to be faced. How prophietic!

Nazism - Low evident was -it? ' Very evident is the answer. ‘he
streets of Germany thronged with uniforms) Nazi party uniforms,
army and Luftwaffe (Air Torce) uniforms, police uniforms and all
sorts of :.special groups, railroad employees, Todt Organization
(public construction), Hitler Jugend.. Everybody seemed eligible
to .wear a uniform. Considerfing the sad state of west civilian
outfits, uniforms improved the appearance of most people.

Everywhere the Swastikay banner,which had become the official
German symbo% flew from houses, buildings. Since Germany was
the site of the 19%6 Olympics, the concentric % ring symbol of the
olympics also was widely flown. Ncwspapers were full of stories
and pictures about the coming Olympic events 1n Berlin to be held
in late July and early August. ,

I read two newspapers in Munich, the Muenchener Neﬂfeste
Nachtrichiten (Munich News) and the Voljischer Beobachter
(People's Observel) - the Nazi Party organ sold all over Germany.
From these papers, I learned of the Civil War that had broken out
in Spain, which cancelled my plans to visit that country before

returning home.
I was no Nazi sympathiser, but an interested obscrver of bl

events in Germany that were being followed around the world. 1
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contacted the American Consul in Munich who was kind enough bo
invite me to his home for dinner. We talked about the trend of
things, and he expressed concern over Germany's rapid militarizution.

Signs of rearmament were everywhere. Troop movements in Lhe
streets of Munich were commonplace. Sometimes, I would be late
to class because I could not cross streets filled with troops,
artillery, tanks and ambulances with crosses already painted on
their sides and roofs.

One roomer in my apartment was a German Army Major. He saw
little of me as he rose early and was picked up by a staff car at the
front door of our apartment house. But, I learned from German
friends, that about 250,000 Army and Air Force personnel were
quartered in the Munich area, hence, the full beer halls and
streets.

Once, I was invited to the Braun Haus (Brown House), the
headquarters of the Nazi party for all of Germany. The Party
originated in Munich, not Berlin, so remained headquartered there
even though Hitler and his immediate entourage had moved to
Berlin aller he assumed Lhe Chancellorship.

Perhaps to %ﬁg?ess an American, I was invited to lunch with
a pgeneral of th%$ﬁrown Shirté, the largest of the Party
organizations, the mass as oppos%&¥ig the 85, the elite units.

We were told to remain seated if ke should come in, and go on

eating. He hated being fussed over. However, as he was a vegetarian,
the menu always contained his favorite vegetable dishes, plus

meat dishes for those who did not follow his dietary practices.

After lunch, I was taken by my host on a tour of the large stone
building. I was shown into Hitler's office and allowed to sit
at his desk! On the walls were oil paintings of World War I
battle scenes. The office was of normal size, not the oversized
offices Mussolini was said to have had. On the desk was a white
telephone, a direct line to Berlin. I did not 1lift the receiver.

Also, I was shown the Party Genate room, a large semi-circular
auditorium fitted beautifully in leafher seats for the Party
Gauleiters, representing each district of Germany. These were
the local Party bosses, and, although Hitler was the boss, they
had great authority in their local districts, outranking the
Government Officials in these areas who had to get their approval
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for any significant changes in policy or activities.

This private visit to Party lI. Q. astounded wmy German Cricernd:.
However, it did not make a convert out of me. My favorite Party
was the U.S. Republican Party!

|#hile attending classes, I had met another American with the
German sounding name of Sylvester Hemleben. He was about 10 ycars
my senior, but we immediately found many common interests. As
a History Professor at Fordham University in New York City, he
was fascinated by the Nazli Revolution, and had come to study it
at first hand, S0 when the summer course ended about the first
of August, we decided to travel together to Berlin for the Olyupics.

Housing in Berlin was impossible to get because of the
Olympics which had filled all the hotels, pensions and anything
else. IHowever, my Munich landlady had a cousin in Berlin. ©She
wrote to her and arranged that I could stay for a week in her
apartment. And Sylvester had a German cousin in Berlin who was
willing to take him in. Since Hem% as I called him (he hated
his first name), wanted to visit other relatives in the Rhineland,
we agreed to meet in Berlin.

So I started out by train frowm Munich on my own. On the train
I shared an apartment (compartment I should say) with a man in

the black uniform with silver trimmings of the 88 (Schutz Stafiel):

He turned out to be one of Hitler's chauffeurs. He was returning
from having delivered a car to Berchtesgaden for Hitler's
weekend use. We had an interesting talk about cars. He naturally
favored the Mercedes-Benz over American or British cars!

I should mention that originally our compartment contained
an elderly Jewish couple. However, when the S5 man entered and
sat down, they got up and left. No word was spoken between Cthern.
However, Jewish people were beginning to feel pressure. Newstauds
contained Der Sturmer, an anti-Semitic publication and park
benches had specially marked benches for Jews.

The Olympics, however, temporarily reduced pressure on
Germany's Jews. To encourage foreigners to come to Germany
that summer (with their foreign exchange) the cruder forms of

anti-Semitism had been cut back or abolished. Nazi Party members
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no longer stood in front of Jewish ¢wned stores, the yellow warm
band was not required and pres%gg%%adks on Jews andééii%he—fa&%ﬁ
ceased. Perhaps, in retrospect, this change was unfortunate since,
later on, the stories about concentration camps and maltreatrcnl
of Jews during the War were readily disbelieved. Several million
people from all over the world attended the Berlin Olympics and
the lack of evidence of anti-Semitism, and the outward courtesy
toward foreigners by the Party that summer created a favorable
impression. |

Berlin was a sea of banners, tourists, Nazis, soldiers and
mobs of Germans on holiday, an exciting place to be. Yet having
lunch at a Cafe on the Unter den Lind€n, I overheard two middle
class Berlin women watching some SS men go by, say, "look at
those swine." I was appalled at the open expression of hostility
until I learned that Berliners as a whole were antipathetic to
the Nazi takeover-not just the large colony of Jews, but Berliners
as a whole, many of them communists, or Social Democrats. Hitler
never really was a Berliner! |

He was referred to frequently as "that Austrian®. Nonetheless,
I was standihg by the Hotel Adlon on the Unter den Linden (the
Waldorf Astoria of Berlin) when a largecavglcade of cars and motorcycle:
approached. I gathered from the crowd of people around me
that Hitler was returning from a visit to the Olympic Stadium.
Do L remained in pluce Lo gsec hiw.

As luck would have it, the cavalcade of cars slowed and
Hitler's open touring car came to a short stop immediately
in front of me. Hitler was sitting in the back seat on the curb
side. He seemed paler than I had anticipated, and looked
rather bored as people extended their arms in the Nazi salute.
He returned this with—e—eesval salute.—fle—returned—thts with
a casual flick of the wrist.

Sitting in the middle of the car next to Hitler was a little
man I recognized as Doctor Goebbels, the Propaganda Minister,
and on the far side wearing glasses and a black uniform was
Heinrich ﬁimmler, the dreaded chief of the Gestapo (Secret Police)
and the SS, the elite private Army established by Hitler to insure
order and obedience by the Army.

In the front seat of the open car sat a man next to the chauffeur

whon I recognized as Rudolph Hess, a Deputy Fuhrer, or Hitler's

assistant.
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So there it was, the whole uply Nazi crew. T attemptead Lo
snap a picture with my camera but the crown pressed on me so

closely) the car drove off before I could focus for a dream

picture. (
I have often thought that, if I had a bomb and the will to
throw i, abt the cost of my own 1life of course, how I wipht

have saved the lives of millions of people and changed the course
of history. But the time, place and opportunity were not
accompanied by the will, eguipment or forsight to take advantage
of it, not to say the will to live on my own part. The War

and the future were still veiled in mystery. So my chance was
lost and history went its way, as did I.

An interesting footnote to this incident perhaps, is worthy of
note.

While at the University in Munich, a rather homely young
German frequented the International Center and would often sit
down, uninvited, to Join in our lunch conversation. He was not
popular, however, but remained persistent, and asked a lot of
questions of all of us. We became a little suspicious that he
was watching us for any signs of hostility or possible espionare.

To my surprise, in Berlin he came into a restaurant where 1
was lunching with llemleben and joined us for lunch. We were too
polite to tell him to get lost.

And when I pushed out of the crowd at the Adlo® after seeing
Hitler, I saw him and he waved at me but said nothing. It gave ne
a creepy feeling of having been followed. So I caught a bus and
headed back to my apartment. Fortunately, he did not follow mc,
but it made me somewhat queasgy. So I was a little careful to
keep my news to myself.

The family with whom I stayed in Berlin was most kind, two or
three children, father and mother. Not Nazis either. With their
help, I telephoned for tickets to the Olympics and then lLook the
subway to %the Olympic stop, It was impossible to get tickets into
the large stadium for the big track events. However, I did get a
seat in the big arena for the boxing events which were excilting.
I wandered through the Olympic Village full of tourists from
all over the world, as well as thousands of Germans in every

uniform. It was like a giant carnival.
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Two other thinps were memorable in Berlin. The Ffirst a btrip to
visit Hemleben's relative in Wannseg, a suburb of Berlin on its
largest lake (Berlin covers a very large area, including several
lakes and forests). We took a streectcar (Strassenbahn) marked
Wannsee and rode nearly an hour to the end of the line. It was
Sunday morning, so the streets were not crowded. We had been
invited to Sunday dinner with Hemlebej¥r's cousin's family, man,
wife, two children. We found their charming villa on a side strcct
in a pretty garden.

Our host welcomed us both warmly and we had a glass of wine
before sitting down in the family dining room to an excellent
chicken and dumpling dinner. The wife was a great cook. The
children were friendly and we all talked a lot, we in broken
German and they in good German. Our host tried to tell a joke
in German, we laughed but never really did get the point.

After dinner and a good visit we headed back to town, having
greatly enjoyed our visit with a German family.

Our second excursion was to a German Gymnasium (high school for
boys.) Through a friend, Hem received permission to visit this
school, and we arrived there during classes. The principal toox
us to a history class in progress. All the boys stood al attention
when we entered the classroom. The principal explained we werc
from America and wanted to see a German school class in action.

So we were asgigned desks in the back of the room and the class
resumed.

The teacher appeared to "know his stuff", and called on praotically
every boy to answer questions. Each boy (about 16 or 17) had
to stand at attention when responding. Many were in the uniflorn
of the Hitler Jugena. However, this was not a Party but a regular
learning session dealing, with 18th century European history.

Most of the boys had evidently studied their lesson. Our coming
and watching was totally unsuspected and therefore, we were not
ggvena rehearsed performance. At the end, Heml@ben who held a
doctorate in history rose and gave a little talk about the 13th
century in his relatively fluent German. The boys were greatly
impressed. I had the good sense to keep my mouth shut so we
were applauded by the class when we rose to go after many thanks

for their courtesy to us.
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On my own, I had one more visit to make in Berlin, As
previously noted, I had letters of introduction to people in
Germany. ©So, I stopped by the American Embassy to pay my respeccts
to the Charge/d' Affaires, who was head of the Embassy during
the Ambassador's absence.

The Charge’was also absent, but I was courteously ushered in
to see the Commercial: Attache', an economist named Herbert HFlach.
We had a good two-hour discussion of the trends in Germany. Whe:

I noted all the soldiers and apparent militarization, Flach said
it was estimated about 50 - 60% of the economy was devoted to the
military build up, a level only sustainable 1if war was contemplated.

I left the Embassy sobered and worried. Later, when I told my
parents of this they were disturbed, and reporting back at
Princeton on my trip found Princeton unbelieving and unwilling to
accept the possibility of another European war. But this was
Cassandra's fate tool

Finally though, my week was up and it wag Lime Lo Llcave Berdin.
Hem and I decided to spend the next two weeks traveling together,
and then we would go our separate ways, he back to Germany to see
more family, I on to Italy, the Riviera, Paris and home by boat

from Cherbourg.
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CUAPTER VI

We left Berlin on the morning train to Dresden, arriving
in time for lumnch. We took a ?;EEEA%O the Zﬁfﬁ ger Museum, onc
of the greatest art collections in Europe. There I saw a
painting of the famous '"chocolate girl'" whose features had appeared
worldwide on cans of Balker's Cocoa, a well known breakfast drini.
Also, canvases by Rubens, Titfan, Van Dyke and Holbeln as well as
many other great masters.

The streets of Dresden were spacious and the public buildings
handsome. Little did we realize that in less than 10 years, it
would all be reduced to rubble by bombers and artillery. DBut the
clouds of impending war were miffored in the many uniforms visible
‘everywhere.

I'rom Dresden, we took a late afternoon train to Prague, ﬁeabﬁng
the Third Reich for the first time in two months. Our train followed
a river valley lined with factories through such industrial centers
as Brno. We arrived in Prapgue in the evening and found a hotel
near the station. Next morning Hem glept in but 1 started on a
walking tour of the downtown. I walked up a large boulevard on a
steeply sloping street to a memorial of the first World War. Then
I walked to the river anaqgiiamou statueg  lined bridge leading; up
to the maoijgAéa;Llo at Lhe topmost point in Prague, Fhis was the
home of the President of Czechoslovakia so not open to thce public.
lTowever, in the morning haze, 1t looked most impressive, rather rinm
though, like the LJtLLdIJl in Durham, England.

It 1is H@Cvé'j*:r_f e ;F:y' understood that 5 years ].a‘ter,j{éég Flie head of
the Gestapo, Reinhard Heydrich, was belng driven in a car f{rom Lhe
Castle to town, two men on the bridge fired shots at him which led to
his death. The Nazis destroyed the village of Lidice Ifrow which
these men had comec and exccuted all the male inhabitants. TLuchily,
we were there before the Nazi takecover in 1939, followinsa En~land
and lrance's 1938 givinge up of the Sudetenland part of Cuzeclioslovaliia
to Germany. itler shortly brolre his word to the British and
I'rench and occupied all of Czechoslovakia in 19%9. Bul we werc
out of there then:

I'rom, Prague, we took the train to Vienna and found a pension
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there to stay. We enjoyed our stay in the Austrian capital which
has broad boulevards, beautiful women and fabulous buildings.
However, unlike busy Germany, there were signs of economic
distress in Viennay poorly dressed people, few cars, and many
public buildings needed repair. The loss of Auutro -Hungarian
Emplre in 1919 had left a capital too large for largely rJdl
Austria to support. So many people who had served in government
posts were unemployed, and suffering a great deal. This had led
to political turmoil and many parties. The Nazi Party had been
outlawed and its members identified themselves by wearing white
stockings. We saw many men in lederhosen (short leather pants)
and white knee socks.

On our first morning at the pension I looked out the window
and saw a huge Nazi swastika flag flying from a building across
the street. I thought, my God the Nazis took over during the
night while we were sleeping. IHowever, it turned out that this
was the only building in Austria allowed to fly the Nazi flag$ it
was the German Embagsy! So we missed the revolution which came
two years later when Hitler marched with his army into Austria
and was recelved with joy by much of the population because it
hoped that Austria, by becoming part of a larger Germany, might
have a better future, not knowing it would only get another war!

One evening we decided to go out to the large Vienna
amusement park which had the world's largest ferris wheel, other
amusements, cafe's)beer gardens and band music playing Strauss
Waltzes and marches.

While drinking beer under the lights of an outdoor cafe’
we were approached by a poorly‘dressed woman of about 30 years
of age. She had heard us speaking English. Turned out she
was British,}had become stranded in Vienna without funds. The
British Embassy had lifted her passport, given her a 3rd class
rail ticket home and a temporary travel permit in place of her
pasgport. However, she said she'd like to stay a little longer in
Vienna and said she would be glad to live. (and sleep) with us
1f we wanted her.

We declined her offer with thanks and returned to our pension.
The next morning, Hemleben said goodbye and caught the train back
to Germany. I never saw him again although we corresponded for a
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few years after our summer together. lle remained Leaching ul
Fordham, married, and had two children. Thus it goes.

I had dccided the best way to see Budapest and Hungary wus Lo
take one of the larpe river steamers that moved up and down Lhe
Danube all the way to the Black Sea. I'rom Vienna to Budapest
by boat was an all day trip, by train three hours, by plane 40
minutes. However, I was in no hurry, Jjust wanted to see the
scenery.

First class on the boat was on the upstairs deck. On the
lower or first deck was 'peasant class', farm people with bare
feet, large bundles and often livestock. So I was glad to be
in the rolative comflort of firgst class wilth declk chalrs, o lLouwn::
and nice diningroom.

Luckily, the day was perfect for a ride on the muddy brown
(not blue) Danube. The sun shoﬁhf and the weather was in the
high 70's, Jjust right.

Our boat started down river,stopping at all the main towns en
route to discharge soldiers, peasants, chickens, and baggage.

Along the river we passed many old castles and monasteries,
as along the Rhine. BSome were encrmous and very old, one could
only wonder at the skill in buillding such large structures, and
the financial drain on the peasantry. I'rom time to time we would
see Ilocks of geese along the margin of the river often accompanied
by little peasant "goose girls". The trip had a charm and old
world grace about it that i1s memorable to this day. It was of
the essence of historic Europe, half alive, green and fruitful,
half ruin and noble. Lo

It %@%%%ﬁ% grew dark but the ship kept On é;géggély-the
hills %&%ﬁ”gigher and the lights more abundant. We were coming
into Budapest. Finally/at about 10 p.n. ;we docked at a Quail
near the huge Parliament building on the Fest side (Buda ia on the
South side and Pest on the north, one whole making up Budapes@.

Usually, hotel porters and pension owners crowded stabiong
and docks looking for customers, However, they were strangely
absent this night. Up_on descending the gang plank, I soon found
that I had arrived in Budapest on St. Stephan's Day, the patron
saint of Hungary. Thousands of people had come into the capital
to celebrate, with full hotels the result.

Luck appeared to be with me, however. I saw a sign held up
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by a nice looking woman in city, not country or peasant dress.
The sign advertised a pension. I told the lady I would take
a room (speaking in German), and we started walking to the pension,
only a short distance from the dock. The lady introduced me to
her young pretty daughter/
tired out, I went right to bed.

The night was not to be restful. Soon after crawling between

and then showed me to my room where,

the sheets I began itching. It rapidly grew worse. I discovered
blood on my hand and turned on the light. There in the bed werec
20 or more bedbugs, with lord knows how many more in the mattress.

I opened the bedroom door and called out to my landlady
who soon came out with her daughter in her nightgown. 1 showed
them the bugs crawling in the bed. They did not appear surprised
or disturbed. As they had no other bed to sleep in, I said I was
leaving. After dressing, I paid for my lodging and walked out on
the street to look for a better place to stay.

Andrassy Ut, the main boulevard was nearby. While walking
down this avenue, I saw a police officer in fancy uniform. In my
best German, I explained my problem. He said that, because of the
festival, all large hotels were packed. However, he thought a
small hotel nearby could accomodate me. He led me there and look
me into the small dingy lobby. The proprietor,seeing the

policeman was only too willing to accomodate the "Tforeign gentleman".

So, he leé me up a stairway to the third floor. We passed
several rooms whose doors were open. In these rooms were peasants
sleeping on the floor, piled up like cordwood. I thought, oh boy,
what a hole!l
However, I was led into a small room with a bed with a
rope mattress, a couple of blankets and one chair. I was willing
at this point to take anything so I didn't argue. I hung all
my clothes from the single light bulb hanging down in the center
of the room to make sure they didn't get overrun with bugs or lice.
Fortunately, the blankets of the bed were bug free and I soon
fell asleep. The next morning, I left the little "flop house"
which had emptied bj the time I awoke. The policeman, who
turned out to be a general in the Hungarian police, had given me
a note to present to the desk of a pgood hotel, the Vier;fdhresﬁzolton
(Four égégg), on the Andrassy Ut. So I headed for this hotel
and the magic of police authority soon resulted in my getting a

good room with bath. In the central courtyard of this hotel
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was a restaurant with a pypsy orchestra. o I stuyed in comlonrt
and enjoyed good food for the rest of my stay in Budapest.

Although largely a peasant country With peasants dressed 1in
"native costumes" of many long skirts on women and baggy trouscrs
for the men, the city women wore beautiful western clothes and
looked stunning, they have beautiful features, very darik hair
and flawless complexions, or so it seemed to me.

To get around Budapest in a hurry, I went to the American
Express office and took a "Cook's Tour" of the city on a special
bus with other tourists, mostly German. We visited the large and
beautiful Parliament building overlooking the Danube, climbed
the heights of Buda on the South side of the river, visiting lhc
Castle which was the home of the Hapsburpg Emperors when they
visited Budapest as part of the pre-World War I Austria-Hungarian
Empire. :

The mandatory stop at the war memorial to the dead of the
first World War was also interesting because the drive to 1t took
us through the principal areas of DBudapest which looks like a
smaller version of Paris, wide treeslined boulevards, fashionable
shops and apartments, industrial areas etc. DBudapest in 1936
appeared more lively and prosperous than Vienna. The loss of lhe
war and The break-up of the Empire had not hurt Hungary as much
as Austria.  Buda pest was o commercial and industrial town, nol
a government city like Vienna.

That first night, I went to see the "Pearly Boquet" at the
National Theatre. This was a show put on by dance teams from
every district of Hungary. Each district had its own special
peasant dress and dances, although there was a basic similarity
to all of them. |

The dancers were superb, and the Hungarian gypsy music lively
and fun. BSo, I enjoyed the evening. However, folk dancing, by
and large, does not particularly intecrcest me. Returniﬁg to ny
hotel, I sat in the hotel cafe and drank Hungarian wine and
listened to more gypsy music until the wee hours of the morning.

I slept in late, but in the afternoon caught the train buck
to Vienna, spending the night there in the same hotel [ had
stopped at earlier. Then, on again the next day to Italy by train over
the famous "Brenner Pass". The train climbed and climbed upward
past guaint villages into the Austrian Alps that towered over

the pass. JFinally, we reached the Italiun frontier. Our traintﬁbﬁﬁfﬂé
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crews There. I leaned out the window to take a picture of the
station at the border. An Italian customs officer waved me back
saying in German, picture taking was "verboten". So I put my
camera away.

I left the train from Vienna at Bglogna, Italy. Then I
boarded a two-car streamlined monster for vﬁéﬁ%g} fﬁes§%ﬁére self-
pfopelled by electricity, very modern compared to the gid traing
in Austria and Hungary.

The train left Balogna for Venice at a hipgh rate of speed.

We roared down mountain sides, through tunnels and over bridges,
finally emerging onto the plain along the Adriatic, and with a
roa;fggggmé long causeway bringing us into Venice.

Evening had come down so I couldn't appreciate much of Venice
at this point. However, leaving the station, I followed a young
hotel porter who led me to a nice hotel along the Grand Canal.

I could hear the boats and see lights of ships, but, not until
morning did I realize the beauty and charm of Venice.

As in Budapest, to get around I signed up for a tour, this
time by boat rather than by bus. We went to all the usual
tourist sites, St. Mark's Square, the Doges Palace (Doges were
the rulers of Venice in Medieval times), the Bridge of Sighs, and
the beautiful homes, buildings and hotels along the many canals.

In the afternoon, I took a boat out to the Lido, an island in
the Adriatic with miles of bathing beach, tourist stands, restaurants
and o6ther resort facilities. There I ran into two U.S. boys of
college age. They invited me to Jjoin them for dinner, so we met
at a trattoria (restaurant) on St. Mark's Square for a fine Italian
dinner.

Itywas good to talk "American" again. So I enjoyed the chance
to catch up on the news from the States. They were headed North
though, and I was headed South to Florence, Rome, Capri and Naples
before turning North to the Riviera. So we parted friends and 1
left for Florence.

In Florence, I found a pension with meals as a base, and set
out to see the sights, the churches, art work, Statue of David
by Michelangelo in the Medici Palace. It was also a place to do
some shopping. Visiting the great art galleries in the Pitti and
Uffici palaces, I found a very fine copy in oil of a Rembrandt
self portrait as a young man. For this I paid about 600 lira

(#16), and rolled it up in a tube that fit-in my sultcase. ALSO,
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I bought hand tooled leather covers for books and telephone bool:
in the famous lcather goods stalls on the Bridge across the Arno
River. ‘

From Florence, I moved on to Rome, still enjoying sunny and
good but not hot weather, ideal for travel. As in Florence, I
found a pension located centrally in the City and ate ny meals
there, cheaper and easier than eating in restaurants.

In Rome, I also took a "Cook's tour", signing up at American
Express for two days of bus sightseeing. As a result, I saw all
the standards, the Vatican, the TForum, .the Coliseum, the Fountains
of Treyi, etc. However, after dinner one evening I walked through
the Forum by moonlight. The shadows of the ruins of this great
civilization of the past were haunting and poetic. I sat on =
wall and thought about my Latin courses, and all I had learned
about Caesar, and Cicero and the other men who had created ancient
Rome. It was a moving experience.

On my own, I also joined a crowd watching a military paradec
of soldliers back from the war in Ethiopia. I walked down to the
Coliseum where the troops were clustered and then followed them
up ¥ the Via Veneto to Mussolini's Palace. It was not long
before the dictator came out onto the balcony of his headquarters
to acknowledge the roar of the crowd and the salute of the passing
troops. He looked rather fat and puffy. Sort of like a rotund
Napoleon. But his troops did not look like victors, their
marching was poor and their uniforms, except for the officers, were
ill fitting. In no way were they comparable to the troops I had
seen in Germany.

Mussolini had covered buildings all over Italy with the slogan
"Combattere, Obedire, Vincere", Fight, Obey, Conquer. But, his
Army did not look like a winner in 1936, and World War II soon
showed it up.

My limited contacts with Fascist officials were not too
pleasant, they were rude and officious, especially at the borders
where all luggage was scarched. I'rankly, Italy was nice without
them: However, overall, the fortunate circumstance of warm, sunny
but not too hot weather made me like Italy the best of all the
countries I visited the Summer of '36,

I can still recall sitting at table with fellow "pensioners"



- 49 -

in Rome having a lunch of pasta, fruit end wine jubile looking
out through flower boxed windows at the ruins ol the Bath of
Caraculla, a long dead Roman Emperor. After lunch, Rome in thosc
days took a siesta in summer, all shops closed from 2-4 P.Il.
Then they stayed open until 8-9 or 10 o'clock, when the evening
cool set in. People spent their evenings wallzing, shopping,
eating and often singingl! 1t was a fun tiume since)although
Mussolini preached hardness and fight, the Italian people never
practiced it. e should have had sense enough to realize thixs
in 1940 and stay out of .the War. But, then he paid for his
mistakes along with his people - fortunately.

Then it was time to think about going hoqunseptember was
coming. But first, I had to see Naples and Capri. So once
more I signed up with American Express in Rome for a guided tour.
There were 5 of us with a chauffeur in a large 1iqiousine, BHFEedh
Alfa Romeo. We drove south of Rome through rolling hills
(Alban Hills) and through many small villages. (This was before
the day of Autos?&adér)or Superhighwayg)that bypass small towns.)

By evening we reached Naples and put up at the Excelsior, a
fine hotel on the Bay of Naples. My room looked out over a
boulevard paralleling the Bay; in the distance you could see
Mt. Vesuvius,: the Isle of Capri and many ships moving in and out
of the harbor. A pleasant evening breeze off the sea rustled
the curtaing of my room.

While I watched, I saw a procession of carnivaly like figures
going down the street below my windows. There were many floats,
bands, and welrdly costumed riders and paraders. They passed on
to some point down the road to a carnival ground.

I never did find out the reason for the parade, Jjust enjoyed
watchinguéfter a while, pn impulse, I walked down to the strect
and mingled with the crowd, finally stopping by a stand to buy
an "ice" (dice cream of the American variety was scarce in thosc days)-

The next day we drove South along the Coast at the basce of lt.
Vesuvius.. There we stopped at Pomp&fi, the ancient Roman city
buried by a volcanic eurruptibn in 79 A.D., only to be discovered
nearly two thousand years later. Our group accompanied by a guide
walked the streets and aaw the houses, shops and artifacts of =z
buried civilization. It was rather uncanny, to see bread that
had been in the oven when the sudden rush of gases and ash

asphyxiated and then buried the baker, leaving his bread to be
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examined 2,000 ycars later! Also, we saw pluaster molds of
people, dogs, cats and other animals in the position that they
had when they fell and died. This was done by carefully removing
the ashes from thelr skeletons and pouring wet plaster in the
place where the bodies lay - voila, the person or animal came
alive in all their fear and agony. What a sight!

The guide took me and the other thfgg the party and said,
for a small extra fee, he would show us the Pompefiam Brothel!

Of ‘course, we paid! On the carefully excavated walls were frescoes
of the sex act as performed in a variety of ways (most still in
use!), Also, there were statues of males with erect phalluseus
(penises) and women in a variety of enticing postures. These

‘art works were designed to get the customers in the mood, as

well as to show the variety of services that could be rendered

by the "ladies" of the establishment.

Naturally, the two women in our narty wanted to know why Chey
couldn't go in! However, in 19356, public proprieties did not
acknowledge womens' interest in sex. Thus, the double standard,

IFrom Pompeil we crossed the base of a peninsula jutting into
the blue Meditteranean and forming one side of the Iay of Naples.
After reaching the sea, we turned right back toward the Bay,
following a road hacked out of cliffs dropping several hundred [lect
to the sea. At times the c¢liffs overhung the road. In the
afternoon sun, the combination of sea breaking against oliffsa
the winding road and blue skies was fascinating. After a while
the cliff's sloped back less steeply giving way to steep vine
covered terraces leading up several hundred feet above our road.

We left the highway to follow a narrow road up through the vineyard
emerging at a beautiful inn with a vine covered terrace with a
spectacular view of the sea. Here we ate a delicious lunch,
enjoyed glasses of wine and generally were very content at our
luck in belng 1in such a beautiful place on such'a beautiful day.

Moving along the Amalfi Drive, named after a small village
clinginge to the elilfs, we reached another resort town cnlled
su”j”fw. This had been a famous resort before World War I, and
the rich and famous came from all over Europe to stay in the

luxury hotels clinging to the cliffs overlcooking the ‘Bay of Naples.
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However, by 19%6, time and a Depression had reduced the number
of visitors. Thus, we as American Express tourists were able to
stay in an old and gracious hotel. I had a large bedroom with 4
balcony overlooking the Bay. Mosquito netting hung from the
ceiling around my bed so I left the French doors open to my
balcony.

Before dinner, I walked down a steep path to a small dock
and had a pleasant swim with my fellow tourists in the Bay. In
those days, pollution had not reached current levels so the Bay
was "swimmable."

Returning to Naples the next morning, we continued on tTo ltome
arriving back at the American Express Office in the afternoon.

I signed the visitor's book at the office. A famous person
(Jimmy Durante, a well known stage and nightclub singer)had signed
the book Jjust ahead of me, but I didn't see him therel%

The next morning I caught an Express train for the Riviera.

It followed the Meditferanean coast and passed through such cities
as Leghorn, Pisa ( with the leaning Ctower visible from the Ctrain)
and Genoa. The long 10 hour ride ended at night in the IFrench
capital of the Riviera, Nice, I followed a hotel porter Lo a =il
hotel in town and fell into bed. I spent the next morning
sleeping in, but finallly had strength to walk along the Boulevard
by the sea, past all the expensive hotels I could not afflord, cven
though it was September and the end ol the season.

That night, tired and a 1little lonely, I sat in a sidewalk
cafe eating and drinking - drinking Coo much red wine and when 1t
came, time to turn in, I felt very woozy, and could hardly make my
way back to my hotel. When I got there, I was too. blown-out to
undress and fell into bed with all my clothes on. My first and
only drunk! I didn't enjoy it at all.

From Nice, instead of a train I decided to bus it North to
Lyons, a large city on the Rhone River and then take a train [(ron
there to Paris. The bus trip was long as the road wound round
slowly through the coastal mountains and then finally into the Rhone
Valley. We didn't reach Lyons until after dark.

Stop, and back up, I left out something: My trip to Monte Carlo.



- 52 -
One day in Nice, a nice sunny day, I decided to po to Monte Carlo.
But how - well, trusty old American Express came through. They
had a limousine leaving at 4 p.m. for a dinner-casino gambling:
trip to Monte Carlo, so I signed up. My companionﬁ %@%g a nice,
but spinsterish lady of about 30, a school teacher from Oregon.
Despite our age difference, we got along well and enjoyed having
dinner together and seeing the sights., Also, we both were lonely
and wanted a chance to talk "American". French is nice, but
American is better!

It was a lovely evening and the ride along the Grande Corniche,
boulevard from Nice to Monte Carlo was a beautiful experience.

In Monte Carlo we left our car and driver to eat in & gsidewalk
cafe and then a walk over to the Casino. We entered the beautiful
lobby and saw many men and women in evening dress. At the door
to the gambling rooms, an usher asked to sce our passports. You
are too young to go in, you must be 21 he said. I was mortified.
However, I told Frances (yes, I remember her name) to go on in
and then tell me about the gambling. Wiile she did that)I wandered
out on a terrace overlooking the harbor. With the lights of
yachts, and the hotels and cars as well as the dark water, it

was a beautiful sight, but I longed to be inside watching the
gambling. Strange this rule) on a previous trip to Europe in
1932, we had visited a German Spa - Baden Baden - and even

though I was only 15, I had watched roulette in the Casino.

After a short wait, Frances came out and said I hadn't missed
much, the Casino crowd in September was very scant, also the
Depression had hurt attendance. I took her out and showed her
a little garden area where a Tew grave markers were placé{ the
burial spot of gamblers who had committed suicide after losing
their fortunes at the gaming table, or so it was alleged. Very
romantici

Well, back to Lyon. The bus arrived late at night in this
large textile city. I found lodging at a small French hotel
adjacent to the bus depot. My principal memory is of the terrible
wallpaper in my room, large and very red flowers in a dense pattern
covered walls and ceiling. I quickly turned out the light to avoid
feelinpg trapped in a garden!
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Since Lyons was largely an industrial city with no tourist
"sights", I caught the first train to Paris arriving in the
afternoon, then back to my little hotel where I had stayed
previously. But I didn't tarry in Paris long either because il
was time to catch the boat train from Paris to Cherbog& where [
would board the .3erman ocean liner, the Bremen. This was a
much newer ship than the Olympic on which I had made the return
trip to New York 4 years earlier.

On board the Bremen, I found Tourist Class full of American
college students headed home for classes. I shared a table with
% American college girls, so had a good time all the way across.
One girl so attracted me that I invited her down to Princeton
for a football weckend. However, she looked better at sea thdn
on land}so our little romance very quickly died.

Everybody on the Bremen was reading a new novel of the Civil
War,ﬁGone With The Wind; by Margaret Mitchell, to appear as a
great movie three years later based on bhis same novel. And
everybody was also talking about the King of England's romance
with Wally Simpson.

The Bremen was a very large, very fast and very German ship,
excellent food and service all the way. However, off Bermuda,
we ran into a hurricane (just as we had done on the Qlympic four
years earlier). We practically stopped moving forward as the ship
plowed through mountainous waves and torrents of rain. I went
out on the covered, glass enclosed, veranda deck and watched the
storm. It was exciting to see the waves breaking over the bow as
the ship plunged into the heavy seas, and spray went clear over
the ships two large funnels.

Many passengers became seasick and the dining room was virtually
empty. However, my three dinner companions like myself, never
missed a meull We abe one wilh Lable boards up, to prevenl ovur
dishes from falling on the dining room deck. ,

Soon all was calm and we were steaming up New York Harbor. T
was glad to be coming home. Three months abroad was enough I felt,
and I was glad to be coming home for my Senior Year at Princeton.
I did not know that 28 years would pass before I traveled abroad
again, and then with a wife, leaving two children at home. Or
that a World War would intervene in which, even though 1 spent
nearly 4 years in the Army, I would not leave the Continental

United States.
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CHAPTER VI
THE END OF COLLEGE -~ THE BEGINNING OF EARNING A LIVING

Mother and Dad were waiting at the dock to take me home to
New Rochelle, less than an hour's drive from the Bremen. UMy stay
at home was short as I had to get clothes lined up and pack for
Princeton.

Being Seniors, Joe Hamis, my roommate and I had the luck of
the draw-a suite of rooms in '79 Hall, the closest dormitory
to all the ¥ating clubs and to classrooms. Our room looked
down Prospect St., and back onto McCosh walk, one of the nicest
vistas in all of the university. As before, we had a larpge common
room (this time with a fireplace) and each had a small bedroom.
It was great for study. (4 trip back to Princeton in 1978 showed
my old dorm converted into offices. A full professor had our
0ld common room as his office and our bedrooms had each been
converted into faculty offices as well. He was surprised we
had so much room! And with a servant as well who made our beds
and cleaned up our rooms! The good old days, gone forever, 1 Iear.)

My Senior year posed the problem of writing a Semior Thesis,
the equivalent or more of a master's or doctoral dissertation
at today's (1980's) standards. As I had worked for a Wall Street
Trust Company which handled investments for wealthy people, as
well as college endoiWgments and the like, I decided to write
about such investments. My thesis, as finally typed ran to
over 100 pages, a big Jjob for a 19 year old. DBut I finished it
in time for Spring vacation in 1937, the year of my graduation.

The Senior Year passed all too quickly. Princeton's football
team had been the leader of the Ivy League all during the 1930's,
so we took it for granted we would beat Yale. But, sad to say,
we didn't, so we lost the last football game I ever attended as
an undergraduate.

But still, Senior Year was a golden time. In the Spring, the
Class of '37 was allowed to wear the traditional Beer Su1to,
actually white overalls with our Class numerals:on them. Also,
we were allowed to sit on the steps of a large sundial outside
the hupe Gothic Chapel that made Princeton so beautiful. And
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finally, in the late Spring, tﬂ?ysenior Class stood in the evenin .
on the steps of historic Nassagifor Senior sings, ballads, beer
songs, and baudy ditties. Townspeople would join under-graduates
under the trees in front of Nassau Ilall to enjoy the singing. Ve
all wore our beer suits for these affairs.

"inal exams came and went, and then happy day, word that 1
ﬁad been selected for Phi Beta Kappa, the national honorary society,
and entitled to wear the gold key insignia of that fraternity.

My Dad and Mother were thrilled I had done so well, made all
the financial sacrifice easy my Dad said. (But, it wasn't easy
during a Depression.)

Graduation week was upon us, with ceremonies from smoking long
white clay pipes around the cannon buried behind Nassau Hall, the
scene of a famous battle during the American Revolution. (Nassau
Hall had served as a hospital for wounded soldiers during the
Battle of Princeton, and later had been the official meeting
place for the Continental Congress, as well as a student dormilory
before becoming the Administrative Center and Presidential Office.)

All during my 4 years, I had come to the first floor of
Nassau Hall to see Mid-term and final grades posted in the
hallway. All students grades were posted there, no secrets as to
how you stood. But now, the final pgrades were in and the list of
those graduating in June went up on the Board, mine included.

On graduation day, a beautiful June day, students and their
parents assembled on the front lawn of Nassau Hall for thec timc
honored ceremonies. I marched up in the alphabetical order and
received my diploma, nearly in tears that it was all over, but
olad my parents had both lived to see this day. Iy brother
couldn't make it, he was working as an engineer for a bearing
company in Connecticut, having graduated several years earlier
from Stevens Institute of Technology.

My folks helped me pack up, say gocdbye to my roommate and his
family, and then it was home bound. There were tears again in
my eyes as we left Princeton and headed for New York. No wnore
bull sessions, beer busts, pool games, club meals, parties, classes,
intellectual ferment. WNow, I was out in the cruel world of the
Depression.

What to do? Well, 1 had assumed a welcome back at the U.5.
Trust Co. at 45 Wall Street where I had worked for two summers.

But the summer of 1937 saw the economy &0 into a Secondary
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slump after a false recovery in 1936, as a result Wall Strcet wasn
reeling, the Stock Markelt dropped again, and business failures
mounted.

The U.S. Trust Co. wanted to wiggle out of their promice to
me, but I persisted and they finally agreed to hire me to work
for $1,000 a year in the mail room! I was a Princeton graduate
now with an A B degree. But, the alternatives didn't exist.

Pan American Airways said they would take me on as a trainee ¥irf I
paid them $80 a month".

Well a Job that required you to pay instead of being paid did
not appeal to me, so I Gook the mail room job.at U.S. Trust.

At least I knew everybody there, they did provide employeces with
a free lunch, supper tickets for overtime and $1,000 a year!

Since they were not all that anxious to have my services, it
was agreed that I could take July off, and then report for work
on August 1, 1937.

Mother had been wanting to visit her Mother and Brother Herbert
in Chicago, her father had died in 1936, so I said I would drive
her out, accompanied by my brother in his car as far as Cleveland
where he had been transferred from Connecticut. .

S0 we started out as a 2 car caravan, Mother riding with Roy in
his car as far as Cleveland, and then with me onto Chicago and
Grandmother. I had an easy month in the windy city, going to band
concerts at night in Grant Park overlooking Lake Michigan with
a Princeton classmate who was Jjust starting out in a Chicapo banlk.

But after a restful month of sleeping late and eating my
Grandmother's rich food, it was time to go back to work. So, on
August 1, 193/, I reported in to the mail room, to find myselfl in
good company. There were about 8 of us in the mail room, all
from Ivy League colleges, Harvard, Yale, Princeton, Dartmouth,
Williams, Princeton (me). Our job was to sort and deliver mail
around the bank, and to pick up and mail outgoing letters. Sound
exciting, well, it could have and should have been done by high school
drop-outs, not Ivy League graduates. However, things were so
rough on the streets we didn't complain, at least we were off the

streets.,
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1t we had to work late getting out the mail, we received o i
supper check but no oyertime. lor $2 in 19%7 you could eat at
the Salarin, a good Wall Street area restaurant and have a full
dinner. However, most of the "puys'", ate at less expensive
eateries and used the balance to buy cigarettes, they20¢ a.pack
or a penny aplece.

The U.S. Trust Co. was a very staid, conservative institutlion.
It was not a bank in the usual sense, in that it did not loan
money to corporations or individuals. It did loan a small part
of its assets to brokerage firms at a high rate of interest. Most
of its business, however, was managing trust funds for a fee,
funds entrusted to it by many of the county's wealthiest familics
like the Vanderbilts, Pratts, Goulds, Bordenjetc. Also, 1t
handled the endo¥¥gment funds of many institutions, colleges,
pension funds and the like.

Thus, the heart of the U.S. Irust Co. was its .investwent
department. I wanted badly to get into this part of the bank
which invested literally billions of dollars. However, in 1937/
promotions were slow. But the Company did start a training
program, and I was allowed Lo join this group which met twice a
week for classes on different aspects of trust work. Fortunately,
I did well on the exams, and probably, with patience could have
moved up the slow ladder of promotion from within. However, I
noticed the really good Jjobs, with few exceptions went to men
with good connections who could bring in new business. Anﬁ ny
contacts with New York's 400, the wealthiest families, %g%?nil.

Also, I was put off by the fact, unbelievable as 1t sounds, the
Company employed no females! All the secretaries were men. UNot
one woman worked there except three telephone operators locked
in a room on the top floor. Even the waiters in the company
diningroom were males.

Well, at 20, and having spent 4 years in an all male college,
I was ready to meet some girls. So, I bemgan to think about
another job. Also, living at home after having been away at
collepge was not attractive;but necessity (economic) forced me to
live abt home. However, during this period our home lLocation had
chanped from New Rochelle to the outskirts of Ossining, New Yorlk.

And I was driving to work with my Dad.
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The yeur 1937 saw 1w leave New Rochelle. 1" his cane abond
because our previous home, which we had only rented, was sold.

The folks (Mom and Dad) were offered a chance to buy our New
Rochelle residence on Broadfield Road, but they were unwilling

to take a chance and make the investment. So, tewporarily in

1937 they had moved into a large apartment complex in New Rochelle.
But they were both unhappy with this.

In October 1937, I came down with pneumonia and was laid up
at home for nearly a month. One Sunday, my parents who had stayed
close by me for several weeks, asked if I would mind if they tool
a ride. I encouraged them to go. Tiey had seen an ad for a
home in the countryside near Ossining on the Hudson River, about
20 miles from New Rochelle. They returned from their ride bubbling
over with enthusiasm for a home situated on 5 acres in the outskicts
of Ossining, a former church and then school which had been
converted into a beautiful colonial home. The upshot of all this
was that we moved tc¢ Ossining after I recoveredjaﬁd through 19%%
and into 1939, I lived 1n this large and beautiful country homc
called TWO KNOLLS with my family.

However, country living, even with a commute i1nto New York City
each day by car p&lled on me. I wanted a better social life than
spending my evenings home with my parents. Frankly, I was lonely
for social life with people my own age. Also, as noted above, 1
was restless at the slow prospects in the Bank.

S50 early in 19329, 1 contacted Princeton and let them know I
was looking for another job. They referred my request to a
distinguished alumni, the Washington political columnist and
newspaper publisher. David Lawrence. His column on politics was
in several hundred daily papers. To my surprise, I received a
letter from him saying he would be in New York in March 19%9, and
would see me at his hotel.

So one rainy evening I left the Bank and took lhe Subway upltown
to 59th Street and walked to the Plaza Hotel. I called his room
on the house phone. He said he was pgetting dressed to go to the
theatre but to come on up to his Suite.

When I got there, he opened the door, handed me a black bow
tie and asked me to help him put it on. Mrs. LaWrence was dressing
in their bedroom. After helping him get his tie on, we sat down
and talked.

I told him of my restlessness and wish lor a more challen{5ing
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Job. e said he was the publisher of a number of legal and
business services, in addition to writing his colunn. However,
he could not give tﬁne to watching their finances, and could
not understand balance sheets and accounting statements. Would
I come to work for him to see if I could help him understand and
straighten out the finances of these publications. He would pay
my moving costs to Washington, and $#3%0 a week, almogst double my
bank salary. I accepted his offer there and then, and said T
would report on the first of April.

I was excited by the chance to go to Washinglon, and try
something new. My folks, though reluctant to see me leave,
understood my feelings. Oddly enough, a change would have cone
anyway as my father was transferred to Chattanooga Tenn. in the
fall of 1939 as the result of taking over the Presidency of the
Chattanooga Gas and Electric Co. So my leaving worked out well
for all.

I had purchased a small Ford coupe after graduation, so drove
away from home on a Saturday morning to the ferry across the
Hudson at Tarrytown. I arrived, somewhat lonely and scared, in
Washington in the late afternoon. I spent my first night at Che
Y. M. C. A. but decided that would not be my home. Armed with 2
paper, I set out on Sunday to find a better lodging. I found
a room in a lodging house on Q Street, just off Du Pont Circle,
and across the street from the Embassy of the Republic of
Columbia, South America. This room on the third floor shared the
bath with two other roomers, but it was a large room with two
big windows overlooking a fenced back yard. Best of all, I
could walk to my work on 2lst St. and M, in 10 minutes. DMoreover,
gseveral pgood, and cheap, restaurants were in the ncighborhood.
Also, the Junior League ran a rental book library Jjust one
block from home. So I moved in and stayed there for about two
years through a succession of landladies.

Washington in 19%9 was becoming a world as well as a national
center. The New Deal had brought in thousands of new government
employees. Also, the threat of war had made the capltal the world
center for many activities and this was to be greatly enhanced

with the actual outbreak of war on Sept. 1, 193%9.
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RETROSPECTIVE BEFORE THE WAR

Let me turn back for a moment before moving into the War
which ended the depression and changed my life as well as that
of countless millions around the world.

During the interval between collége and the move to Washington,
I_have'noted my work at the bank. However, I touched oﬁly
lightly on the other aspects of my life during this two year pcriod.
In part, because this period was not the happiest of times.

My parents were good to me and to my brother, generous to a
fault. They saw to it we had advantages of travel and schoolin
available to only a few during the 1930's. As I noted earlier,
in 1930, my brother and I took a trip to the West Coast by car
that introduced us to the size and scope of the United States.

(For details see separate book entitled See America First.)
During this trip my voice changed (I was 13), and I came home
with a new awareness of girls. In 1932, the folks sent Roy and

F to Europe on a White Star Line tour to 5 countries (see Adventures
@broad.) And, separately, when I was 14, my parents had sent
me, by myself, on a steamer trip to Nova Scotia and Newfoundland.
Also, they had sent Roy to a very fine, and expensive engineering
school, and me to equally expensive Princeton.

However, both Roy and I found living at home after college
too confining. I enjoyed driving my Dad to work in 193%8. We
had a little Chevrolet coupe, and drove from Two Knolls down
expressways all the way to Wall Street, at the Southern end
of Manhattan Island. In those days, you could park all day in
Hanover Square, outside the coffee exchange from which the aroma
of roasting coffee samples filled the neighborhood air.

Dad and I had good talks together on topics of the day, sports,
etc. However, we never really talked about fundamentals like sex.
Such topics were left unsaid. Dut, our drives together did
bring a closeness and friendship I valued, especially after e
died.

In the summer of 1938, we held a big lawn party for Roy and my
friends. But, largely, it was a lonely existence for me.

Our distant neighbors, the O0'Deas had a beautiful home with
a swimming poo#, and a pretty grown daughter Marcia. I fell in
love with the pool, and Roy on visits home, with Marcia. After

a swift courtship, they were married in June 1929, I returned
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home for the wedding from Washington, but returned immediately
to my new job.

The summer of 1939 was exciting becausec of the World's Fair
in New York City, because the King and Queen made a visit to
N.Y., and because of Roy's wedding. The wedding was held in
the 0'Dea's beautiful home, in their large living room, followed
by a garden reception and lunch around the pool. Luckily the
weather was perfect.

While I returned to Washington, the bride and groom sailed
to Bermuda on a honeymoon, followed by travel to their apartment
in Cleveland where Roy had been sent by his company.

So, now, back to Washington, my new life there, and the Var.
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CIAPTER VIT
TIE WAR YEARS

It wasn't long after I returned to Washington that World War TI
broke out. lHowever, before reviewing the impact of the War
on me, let me cover my private life.

As noted earlier, I rented a room just off Connecticut Ave.
withing walking distance from David Layfence's offices. He had o
two story building with offices at one end and a large press and
composing rooms and linotype operations at the other. In addition
to his newspaper column, D.L. as he was known to the staff,
published a weekly newspaper known as the U.3. News. 1t was a
dry, uninteresting paper devoted to covering in some depth the
activities of Federal agencies in Washinpgton. As a<separate
operation, but under the same roof, he published several business
"services", U.S. Law Week, Labor Relations Reporter, Wage and
Hour Manual, Patents Quarterly.

I was hired to work for his wholly owned company, the Burcau
of National Affairs, Inc., the publisher of these business scrvices.
Ostensibly I reported to the Bugsiness Manager of these scrvices,
Charlie McCullum, a dour Scotsman who thought an 30 hour week
about normal. Also, I was to touch base with the Treasurer of
the two companies, Mr. Bryan as he was called.

In reality, 'I was D. L.'s spy and business assistant. e
called me in each week to talk over what I had found 1in golng
over the books of his companies. I found the books "all screwed
up’, cven with my limited accounting training I found the
hcad bookkeeper, a woman, had not known how to account for iLncome
of the various publications, with the result that several hundred
thousand dollars had not been properly taken into income. As a
result, earnings and income tax liabilities had been seriously
understated for several years.

While this discovery did not make me popular with elther Mr.
Bryan or his bookkeeper, it increased D.L.'s faith in me. And he
asked me bto give him each month a financial statement he could
understand. So I prepared a statement of source and application
of funds, really a where from, where gone, type of accounting
which he said was the first accounting statement he had ever

understood.



I soon took on added responsibilities making cost estimates for
the new publications he was always drcamiap up. L also revicwed
each monthk income and expenses to see how they compared with
prior months and years.

One night D.Li. called me into his office and handed me a
palley proof of a new version of his U.S. News, in magazine
rather than newspaper form. He asked me to take it home on
the weekend and see him with my comments on Monday. I woo
much impresscd and told him it should be able to command a
much wider audience than the old news, and attract more advertisers.
However, it could not be printed on his old fashioned newspapcer
presses in Washington. lHe said he had engaged a printing company
in Dayton, Ohio to print his new magazine about which I was sworn
Lo wsllence since Lhe shil'l Lo u magazine Lorm would cosl many
Jjobs. We discussed alternative uses for his presses, and I madc
studies for him of the possibility of using the pregsses for
job .printing. Also, we discussed book publication on the old
presses, and actually did print a set of books on them, most of
which never sold.

With the outbreak of the War came price controls and I was put
in charge of developing a looseleafl service of the Prentice-Hall
type with replaceable sheets in the binder for a new service to
business covering price controls for textiles, steel products
and other services. Also, as part of the war effort, hearings
were held by various Congressional committies on the growing
defense %%535?.

One such hearing, chaired by then Sen. Truman of Missouri (later
to be President) was covered by B.N.A. (Bureau of Natl Affairs%
court reporters who prepared verbatﬁm transcripts of the hearings.
These were printed at no cost to Committee members in exchange
for the right to sell the transcripts to business firms interested
in the hearings. I soop became boss of this operation, arrangin
for motorcycle digpatch riders to go up to Capitol Hill, taking
the transcripts back to our office where they were put on
duplicating machines for mailing out air mail specilal delivery
to subscribers in N.Y., Chicago, Pittsburgh, Cleveland and othor
business centers. It was a tight operation timewise to insure
copy was ready to meet airmail schedules and get transcripts Lo

the companies the next morning. Worse yet, I had to quickly scan
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100 = 200 pages of transcript and prcpare a 1-2 page summary
to go up front. All this involved long, often frantic hours
with lunch and dinner consisting of cold sandwiches and a
bottlelof milk. .

My days at David Lautence's shop were exciting but often
exhausting. However, they didn't occupy all my time. On
Sundays, I would get up late, eat a delayed breakfast, buy a
Sunday paper and drive out to Hafns Point, overlooking the Potomac
River and Arlington. Hafns Point was a public park and many
sun bathers and couples Jjolned me on Sunday afternoons watching
the river go by and Jjust resting.

For social life, I began going to the State dances held in the
big hotels around Washington by the various State socleties.
Washinpgton was a town of strangers who flocked into the growing

government and related activities, including thousands of youns

(and often pretty) secretaries atiracted by relatively high civil
service salariesg, and the chance to get away from home on their own.
But they turned out, often out of loneliness, abt their own Statc
society dances for a chance to meet, dance with, and possibly
romance young men.

You did not have to be from Texas or Nebraska, however, (o
show up at these affairs. Also, I was able to 3o to various
Army and Navy affairs. For a while I dated Admiral Kauffman's
daughter’ he was commander of the Atlantic I['leet.

Also, I attended the Presbyterian Church in Chevy Chasc, d.,
a suburb. I joined the young people's association and usually
attended the Sunday night socials at the church. There were also
debutante parties, and girls college dances to which I was invited
as an eligible "Princeton man. ‘

I pot to know Patty Prochnik, whose father had been the
Austrian Ambassador to the United States until Hitler invaded
Austria and absorbed it into the Third Reich in 19%8. Her futher
had resigned his post and sought political asylum in Washington
where he became a professor at Georgetown University. Financially,
times were tough for the family so Patty had gotten a job with the
Junior League Library, near my rooming house. Patty and I used
to lunch together at tables outside the drugstore at the corner
of Massachusetts Ave. and Du Pont Circle. One day, the ncewupaper

headline on the adjacent newstand said Hitler and Russia's dictator

Joseph Stalin had concluded a non-aggression part.
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Patty salid to me "this means war". She was worried because she hud
three brothers who had been drafted into the German Army. A

few days later, she was proved right when first Hitler, then Stalin
invaded and then divided up Poland, the start of World War II.

Not long after the collapse of Poland, a funeral cortepe
went by our officej it was for Ignace Padg¢rewski, one of the
world's greatest concert pianists who had, for a time,abandonned
his plano to become President of Poland, only to be pﬁshed out
of office by a military man Marshall Pilsudski. I thought as
I saw the cortege and hearse go by how sad it must have been for
him to see his beloved country swallowed up by Germany and Russia
again. I had heard him give a concert once in White Plains before
an audience of thousands, it was an all Chopin Concert, and very
moving.

As 1f I didn't have enough to do, I signed up for evening
courses in accounting at George Washington University. I had
taken similar courses at New York University's Wall Street
branch while working for the U.S. Trust Company.

Night school was a must for thousands of youns New Yorkers
and Washingtonians in those days. The Depression made everybody
anxious to improve their skills and job getting ability.

In one course, cost accounting, I sat next to a young Harvard
trained attorney, Ray Sherfy, Wé used to adjourn after class to
Quigleys, the drugstore in the heart of the university building
area (there was no campus). One night, he asked where I lived
and I told him. He inquired if I would be interested in living
in his parents home in one of the better residential areas.

He took me out to meet his parents, Dr. and Mrs. Sherfy, in their
comfortable brick colonial home on a nice sized lot at 17th and
Usher, then a suburban area. Ray's brother Larry, had moved to

San Francisco, so his comfortable bedroom, down the hall from Ray's,
was empty. Mrs. Sherfy, a warm motherly type wanted me to talke
over Larry's room if I wanted to.

Well, I was about ready for a move. The week before, a hold up
man had held up one of the roomers in my house at gun point as Lc
was coming in. Another night, I heard a girl roomer screaming on
the 2nd floor. Rushing down I found her hysterical from fright, u
large black man had climbed in her window from the fire escape,

threw a small rug in her face, grabbed her purse off the mantel



